Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: March 14, 2023 REVISED: August 9, 2023 ACCEPTED: August 31, 2023 PUBLISHED: September 14, 2023

A coherent view of the quark-gluon plasma from energy correlators

Carlota Andres,^a Fabio Dominguez,^b Jack Holguin,^a Cyrille Marquet^a and Ian Moult^c

ABSTRACT: The ability to measure detailed aspects of the substructure of high-energy jets traversing the quark-gluon plasma (QGP) has provided a new window into its internal dynamics. However, drawing robust conclusions from traditional jet substructure observables has been difficult. In this manuscript we expand on a new approach to jet substructure in heavy-ion collisions based on the study of correlation functions of energy flow operators (energy correlators). We compute the two-point energy correlator of an in-medium massless quark jet and perform a detailed numerical analysis of the produced spectra. Our calculation incorporates vacuum radiation resummed at next-to-leading log accuracy together with the leading order contribution in medium-induced splittings evaluated through the BDMPS-Z multiple scattering and GLV single scattering formalisms for a static brick of QGP. Our analysis demonstrates how particular features of the modifications of in-medium splittings are imprinted in the correlator spectra, particularly showing how energy correlators may be used to extract the onset of colour coherence. We further present a comprehensive discussion on the accuracy and limitations of our study emphasizing how it can be systematically improved. This work sets the foundations for a rich program studying energy correlators in heavy-ion collisions.

KEYWORDS: Jets and Jet Substructure, Quark-Gluon Plasma

ARXIV EPRINT: 2303.03413



^a CPHT, CNRS, École polytechnique, Institut Polytechnique de Paris,

⁹¹¹²⁰ Palaiseau, France

^bInstituto Galego de Física de Altas Enerxías (IGFAE), Universidade de Santiago de Compostela, Santiago de Compostela 15782, Spain

^cDepartment of Physics, Yale University,

New Haven, CT 06511, U.S.A.

E-mail: carlota.andres-casas@polytechnique.edu,

fabio.dominguez@usc.es, jack.holguin@polytechnique.edu, cyrille.marquet@polytechnique.edu, ian.moult@yale.edu

Contents

1	Introduction				
2	Energy correlators as a probe of the quark-gluon plasma				
3	Calculating the two-point correlator of an in-medium jet				
	3.1	The collinear limit of the energy correlators	6		
	3.2	Multiple scattering framework for in-medium interactions	10		
		3.2.1 Harmonic oscillator approximation	13		
		3.2.2 Yukawa collision rate	14		
	3.3	Single scattering framework for in-medium interactions (GLV)	15		
4	Numerical results				
	4.1	Analysis procedure	19		
	4.2	Distributions and scaling properties for different jet quenching formalisms	20		
		4.2.1 Approaches with multiple in-medium scatterings	20		
		4.2.2 The single scattering approach (GLV)	22		
	4.3	Visualising coherence	23		
5	Discussion		27		
6	Conclusions				
A	Vacuum resummation and anomalous dimensions				
	A.1	Recap of the OPE	31		
	A.2	Spin-3 twist-2 operators and anomalous dimensions	32		
	A.3	Summary of $g^{(n)}$ at fixed and running coupling	35		
в	Additional figures				

1 Introduction

The successful results of the heavy-ion runs at the Relativistic Heavy Ion Collider (RHIC) and at the Large Hadron Collider (LHC) [1-3] have opened up a rich program in advancing the understanding of the strongly interacting matter created under extreme conditions. For recent reviews see [4-8]. This strongly interacting matter, referred to as the quark-gluon plasma (QGP), provides a unique opportunity to study free quarks and gluons, as well as the phase structure of Quantum Chromodynamics (QCD), and may have applications ranging from understanding neutron stars, to the dynamics of the early universe [6].

One of the most recent exciting advances in collider physics, both theoretically and experimentally, has been the development of the field of jet substructure, which uses the detailed internal structure of highly energetic jets to determine the properties of the underlying microscopic collisions. While jet substructure had its origins in searches for physics beyond the Standard Model in p-p collisions (see [9-13] for reviews), it also provides an excellent tool to study the QGP created in heavy-ion collisions. Indeed, in heavy-ion collisions, high-energy quarks and gluons are produced in the initial hard scattering and propagate through the evolving strongly interacting system. An imprint of the system's evolution is then left in the internal structure of the reconstructed jets. For these reasons, jet substructure has attracted significant interest from the heavy-ion community, rapidly becoming one of the most promising approaches to studying the QGP [4, 7, 14–27].

Jet substructure studies in heavy-ion collisions aim at disentangle the properties of the QGP by looking at the modifications of the jets' inner structure in A-A with respect to p-p collisions (vacuum). This places high demands on the theoretical understanding of QCD both in vacuum and in medium. Due to the extraordinary complexity of the system created in these collisions, several phenomena emerge, such as colour coherence [28–31] and medium response [32, 33], which complicate the extraction of robust conclusions about the inner dynamics of the QGP from traditional jet substructure observables. Ideally, one would like to formulate a program of jet substructure measurements in heavy-ion collisions based on a set of observables which simultaneously have simple theoretical properties and are sensitive in clean ways to specific features of the QGP. Unfortunately, this has been proven to be far from straightforward for standard jet shape observables.

In this paper we formulate the study of jet substructure in heavy-ion collisions in terms of a simple class of *inclusive* observables known as energy correlators, which are correlation functions of energy flow operators $\langle \mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_1)\cdots \mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_k)\rangle$ [34–38], where $\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_1)$ measures the asymptotic energy flux in the direction \vec{n}_1 [38–41]. In vacuum, the observables present a clear separation between the non-perturbative and perturbative regimes, with the latter being known to very high precision (typically NNLL [42]). Within their perturbative regime, they exhibit a smooth power law behaviour [38, 43], with sharp transitions arising at the presence of any additional scale in the problem [44, 45]. Additionally, due to their inclusivity, their theoretical description keeps some simplicity compared to more exclusive observables, even when applied to very complicated environments with potentially large backgrounds. Indeed, it is for this reason that close relatives to energy correlators, temperature correlators, are used to study the cosmic-microwave background (CMB) [46], the big bang, and inflationary cosmology [47]. In all, this makes energy correlators an ideal candidate for jet substructure in heavy-ion collisions, opening the door for robustly identifying the dynamics associated with specific scales of the QGP, whilst precisely controlling other independent factors such as quark/gluon fractions.

In order to illustrate how the features of a given jet quenching formalism are imprinted into the energy correlators spectra, we study in this manuscript the two-point correlator (EEC) of a massless quark-initiated jet, which we compute perturbatively as a spray of partons. The calculation allows us to access colour coherence properties of the interaction between the jet and the medium. We compute the EEC spectra within different jet quenching formalisms for a static brick of QGP. First of all, we make use of a semihard implementation [48, 49] of the multiple scattering BDMPS-Z formalism [50–53] for medium-induced radiation using two different parton-medium interaction models: a gaussian (also referred to as the Harmonic Oscillator) and a Yukawa (Gyulassy-Wang) model. Independently, we obtain the two-point correlator within the complete single scattering GLV framework [54–57] using a Yukawa parton-medium interaction model. We find that while the specific details of the medium-induced formalism employed are imprinted into the detailed behaviour of the two-point correlator, the ability of this observable to identify the onset of colour coherence is independent of the jet quenching formalism employed. This illustrates how the energy correlators can isolate the dynamics of the QGP at a particular scale. A brief presentation of our results for the Harmonic Oscillator approach was previously given in [27], here we significantly extend the discussion by considering all the jet quenching frameworks mentioned above.

The analysis presented in this work is meant to be an initial theoretical exploration of energy correlators in a heavy-ion environment, aiming at showing how the features of the underlying formalism for jet-medium interactions are reflected into an EEC-type observable. For this purpose, we adopted a simple model for the QGP, which needs to be upgraded to a much more realistic implementation before any meaningful comparisons to experimental data could be considered. Given the current limitations and scope of the study, we refrain from delving into the specifics of potential measurements and how the results might differ for different event selections. These aspects can be more thoroughly addressed in future publications. Nevertheless, it is useful to keep in mind that the processes of greatest interest to this observable are the associated production of γ +jet or Z+jet, as previously noted in [27], since the hard scale necessary to measure the EEC can be taken as either the energy or $p_{\rm T}$ of the tagged γ/Z . We note, however, that we will not apply in this study any jet algorithm, rather the jet is the collimated spray of hadrons antipodal to the axis of the tagged γ/Z (referred in the literature as hemisphere-jets [58, 59]). Therefore any considerations about jet radii and p_T cuts are postponed for future works.

An outline of this paper is as follows. In section 2 we provide a general overview of the use of energy correlators in jet substructure, highlighting their advantages for elucidating the inner dynamics of the QGP. In section 3 we present in detail the calculation of the two-point energy correlator of an in-medium massless quark jet, emphasising the approximations used, and describing the different theoretical approaches taken for the treatment of the medium-induced radiation. In section 4 we present and discuss the numerical evaluation of this two-point correlator, showing that a consistent picture of colour coherence emerges from the different jet quenching formalisms considered. Section 5 is dedicated to a technical discussion on the limitations of our current theoretical framework, particularly highlighting the parametric size of subleading corrections not accounted for. Finally, we summarise and conclude in section 6. We further provide two appendices: in appendix A we give a detailed review of the EEC distribution in vacuum, and in appendix B we expand on the numerical results presented in section 4.

2 Energy correlators as a probe of the quark-gluon plasma

The standard approach to studying jet substructure in collider experiments is through the use of *jet shapes*, which are observables that are sensitive in some manner to the



Figure 1. Just as the CMB radiation from the Big Bang propagates to null infinity, where correlations in the temperature are measured [46], so does the radiation produced in the "Little Bang" in relativistic heavy-ion collisions. In this case, the radiation is measured by energy flux operators $\mathcal{E}(\vec{n})$ at null infinity. *Time* scales in the microscopic collision are imprinted in *angular* scales of the energy distribution on the celestial sphere.

shape of radiation in a jet. Examples of jet shape observables include thrust, jet mass, angularities, etc. Jet shapes received significant attention in early work on jet substructure in p-p collisions, and thus studying their modifications in the presence of a QGP became a natural approach to studying jets in heavy-ion collisions. However, addressing how a given *shape* is modified by the jet interactions with the medium is extremely difficult, since a jet's shape contains competing dynamics at many different scales, each of which may be modified in a different way. We would instead like to have jet substructure observables that are sensitive to the QGP's dynamics at a given scale, which requires a completely novel approach to jet substructure.

Instead of considering the shapes or splitting histories of a jet, we can think of the pattern of energy flux deposited on the detectors, which can be viewed as the celestial sphere. This is illustrated in figure 1 in the form of a Penrose diagram. Averaged over many events, this produces a density field of energy flux, much like the CMB, or like a two-dimensional condensed matter system. Statistical properties of the energy flux can be measured using a light-ray operator, $\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_1)$, which measures the asymptotic energy flux in the direction \vec{n}_1 [38–41], and is defined as

$$\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_1) = \lim_{r \to \infty} \int dt \, r^2 n_1^i \, T_{0i}(t, r\vec{n}_1) \,, \tag{2.1}$$

where $T_{\mu\nu}$ is the stress-energy tensor of the field theory. In the Penrose diagram in figure 1 these operators are shown as lines, illustrating the integral over time. Multi-point correlation functions of the energy flow operators, $\langle \mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_1)\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_2)\cdots\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_k)\rangle$ [34–38], then describe the structure of the energy flux. Due to recent advances in field theory, these correlation functions can now be computed over a large hierarchy of angles, and have been measured in Open Data inside high-energy jets in p-p collisions [60].



Figure 2. (a) Angular scales in the two-point energy correlator map the time evolution of the jet. (b) The dynamics associated with the interactions with the QGP are clearly imprinted at a particular angular scale. Panel (b) first presented in [27].

The key observation is that time scales in the evolution of the jet are imprinted into *angular* scales in the asymptotic energy flux. Therefore, by studying the structure of the correlators at a given angular region, one can access the dynamics at a specific time scale in the evolution of the jet.¹ For a variety of applications of the energy correlators for identifying scales in QCD systems, see [27, 44, 45, 60, 66–68]. This is of course not an unfamiliar idea, since due to precisely the same reason correlation functions in the CMB are used to access particular stages in the time evolution of the universe. Modifications to the energy flux within a jet, associated with different scales in the QGP, will therefore be imprinted at different angular regions in the correlators, as schematically illustrated for the two-point correlator of an in-medium jet in figure 2.

Energy correlators present several other characteristics which may make them excellent candidates for a jet substructure program in heavy-ion physics. First, since the modifications of jet substructure observables due to the presence of the QGP are analysed with respect to a vacuum baseline, it is highly desirable for this baseline to be featureless and independent of non-perturbative effects. In vacuum, normalised energy correlators exhibit a clear angular separation between the non-perturbative and perturbative regimes [60], presenting in the latter a featureless power-law behaviour indicative of massless QCD being asymptotically conformal [38, 43]. This power law is known perturbatively for both quark and gluon jets at NLO+NNLL accuracy, see [42, 69] and appendix A and obeys rigorously understood factorisation theorems [70]. Thus, in heavy-ions the presence of additional scales due to the QGP formation is expected to result in clear changes in this power-law behaviour that cannot be attributed to other modifications, such as quark/gluon fractions.

¹For other recent approaches to accessing different timescales of the system's evolution with jet quenching observables see e.g. [61-65].

Second, energy correlators isolate single logarithmic collinear physics, which is expected to be robust to the underlying soft backgrounds. Furthermore, they can be weighted by additional powers n of the energy, $\mathcal{E}^n(\vec{n}_1)$, to further suppress soft radiation while remaining theoretically tractable. For the same reason, they can be computed efficiently on tracks [70–74]. They achieve this insensitivity to soft radiation without the need for grooming algorithms, due to the fact that they are energy weighted, and inclusive over extra radiation, so they are not Sudakov observables. This is particularly interesting in the heavy-ion context, where grooming techniques have not been tailored to the presence of a large underlying event, which can lead to a substantial number of splittings to be misidentified [75].

It is also worth comparing the energy correlator with other observables based on declustering algorithms [76, 77], such as the groomed energy fraction $z_{\rm g}$ and groomed angle $\theta_{\rm g}$. The groomed energy fraction $z_{\rm g}$ gives access to the collinear dynamics of the jet while being insensitive to soft radiation. However, the energy fraction is not associated with a particular time scale in the jet, making it not ideal for studying the dynamics of the QGP, which is more naturally mapped into an angular variable. Contrary to $z_{\rm g}$, which is extraordinarily insensitive to non-perturbative and higher order contributions [76], $\theta_{\rm g}$ may be associated with particular time scales, but it is highly sensitive to non-perturbative and higher order contributions, and is not well described by parton showers and analytic calculations in p-p collisions [78]. Additionally, there have also been attempts to be further differential by studying in-medium modifications to the primary Lund plane of the jet radiation [15, 79]. This approach can be roughly understood as differential in both $\theta_{\rm g}$ and $z_{\rm g}$, and thus, whilst potentially accessing novel physics, it also comes with the downside that the drawbacks of both observables are simultaneously present. In contrast to θ_g and the Lund plane, the power-law behaviour displayed by energy correlators in vacuum is insensitive to non-perturbative effects and higher order corrections for angles larger than $\sim \Lambda_{\rm OCD}/Q$, where Q is a hard scale usually taken as the initial jet energy or p_T [80, 81], thus providing a robust angular variable [27], which is otherwise very hard to find.

3 Calculating the two-point correlator of an in-medium jet

Having described our general approach to probing the dynamics of the QGP using energy correlators, in this section we focus on the specific case of the simplest two-point energy correlator of an in-medium jet. We describe in detail how this observable can be computed incorporating interactions with the medium within several jet quenching formalisms.

3.1 The collinear limit of the energy correlators

The *n*-th weighted normalised two-point correlator can be written in terms of the inclusive cross-section σ_{ij} to produce two hadrons (i, j) as

$$\frac{\langle \mathcal{E}^{n}(\vec{n}_{1})\mathcal{E}^{n}(\vec{n}_{2})\rangle}{Q^{2n}} = \frac{1}{\sigma} \sum_{ij} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma_{ij}}{\mathrm{d}\vec{n}_{i}\mathrm{d}\vec{n}_{j}} \frac{E_{i}^{n}E_{j}^{n}}{Q^{2n}} \delta^{(2)}(\vec{n}_{i}-\vec{n}_{1})\,\delta^{(2)}(\vec{n}_{j}-\vec{n}_{2})\,,\tag{3.1}$$

where E_i is the lab-frame energy of a final state hadron *i*, and *Q* is an appropriate hard scale. $\sigma(Q)$ is the integrated cross-section for the studied process. In an isotropic environment, 3 of the degrees of freedom in $\{\vec{n}_1, \vec{n}_2\}$ correspond SO(3) symmetries. Hence, we will study the distribution

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\Sigma^{(n)}}{\mathrm{d}\theta} = \int \mathrm{d}\vec{n}_{1,2} \,\frac{\langle \mathcal{E}^n(\vec{n}_1)\mathcal{E}^n(\vec{n}_2)\rangle}{Q^{2n}} \,\delta(\vec{n}_2\cdot\vec{n}_1-\cos\theta)\,. \tag{3.2}$$

Here we have introduced the short-hand notation $dx_{1,2} = dx_1 dx_2$.

Let us a consider a situation where a highly energetic massless quark-initiated jet propagates through the QGP. Here the relevant hard scale, Q, is the jet energy. In an experimental realisation of an EEC measurement, that scale can only be determined by inference from the detected final state particles. Typically this is done by using a jet algorithm, however doing so transforms the measurement from an inclusive observable to an exclusive one. Therefore, the processes of greatest interest to this observable will be the associated production of γ +jet or Z+jet, in which case Q would be either the energy or p_T of the tagged γ/Z .² We are interested in the relatively wide angle region of medium modification. As the average momentum exchange between the two correlator points goes as $\sim \theta Q$, the wide angle region where $\theta Q \gg \Lambda_{\rm QCD}$ is largely determined by perturbative physics. We therefore write the observable as a sum over inclusive partonic cross-sections:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\Sigma^{(n)}}{\mathrm{d}\theta} = \frac{1}{\sigma} \int \mathrm{d}E_{q,g} \frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{\sigma}_{qg}}{\mathrm{d}\theta\mathrm{d}E_q\mathrm{d}E_g} \frac{E_g^n E_q^n}{Q^{2n}} + \frac{1}{\sigma} \int \mathrm{d}E_{g_1,g_2} \frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{\sigma}_{g_1g_2}}{\mathrm{d}\theta\mathrm{d}E_{g_1}\mathrm{d}E_{g_2}} \frac{E_{g_1}^n E_{g_2}^n}{Q^{2n}} \\
+ \frac{1}{\sigma} \int \mathrm{d}E_{q_1,q_2} \frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{\sigma}_{q_1q_2}}{\mathrm{d}\theta\mathrm{d}E_{q_1}\mathrm{d}E_{q_2}} \frac{E_{q_1}^n E_{q_2}^n}{Q^{2n}} + (\text{perm. } q \leftrightarrow \bar{q}) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\Lambda_{\text{QCD}}}{\theta Q}\right), \quad (3.3)$$

where $\hat{\sigma}_{ij}$ is the inclusive cross-section to produce final state partons i, j.³ $\hat{\sigma}_{ij}$ still contains initial state non-perturbative physics, such as (n)PDFs. This factorisation of final state perturbative and non-perturbative physics is of Collins-Soper-Sterman [82, 83] form and has been proven for energy correlator observables with hadronic initial states [70]. In principle one can convolute the given partonic result with fragmentation functions or track functions as appropriate for a collider measurement.

We define a partition between the vacuum and medium physics in the partonic crosssections as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{\sigma}_{ij}}{\mathrm{d}\theta\mathrm{d}E_i\mathrm{d}E_j} = \left(1 + F_{\mathrm{med}}^{(ij)}(E_i, E_j, \theta)\right) \frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{\sigma}_{ij}^{\mathrm{vac}}}{\mathrm{d}\theta\mathrm{d}E_i\mathrm{d}E_j}, \qquad (3.4)$$

where $F_{\text{med}}^{(ij)}$ is defined to be the medium modification to a given i, j vacuum partonic cross-section. Using this definition, we can resum the vacuum inclusive-jet contributions to

 $^{^{2}}$ If a jet algorithm must be used, the goal will be to let the radius be as large as possible (ideally twice the angular scale studied) so that edge effects from the cone boundary are small [60], thus letting the energy weighting in the correlator tame the backgrounds rather than the cone size. The hard scale should always be defined by the vector boson to remove the effects of a bias on the jet energy scale.

³Note that the given result is for single flavour QCD. Additional sums over quark flavours should be included for multi-flavour QCD.

the observable (labelled $J_{\text{EEC}}^{(n)}$ in the literature [84]) into a closed form expression using the celestial operator product expansion (OPE):

$$\frac{1}{\sigma} \sum_{ij \in \{g,q,\bar{q}\}} \int \mathrm{d}E_{i,j} \frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{\sigma}_{ij}^{\mathrm{vac}}}{\mathrm{d}\theta \mathrm{d}E_i \mathrm{d}E_j} \frac{E_i^n E_j^n}{Q^{2n}} \Big|_{n=1} \equiv J_{\mathrm{EEC}}^{(1)} = C \frac{1}{\theta^{1-\gamma(3)}} + \mathcal{O}(\theta^0) \,, \qquad (3.5)$$

where $\gamma(3)$ is the twist-2 spin-3 QCD anomalous dimension at fixed coupling.⁴ The expression becomes more complicated with n > 1, however crucially one still gets the θ^{-1} scaling behaviour at leading order in α_s . We provide in appendix A a review of the celestial OPE and the relevant results. *C* is a constant (up to the running coupling) that will not be relevant for our analysis. For completeness:

$$C = \frac{\alpha_{\rm s}}{2\pi} \frac{9C_{\rm F}}{2} + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_{\rm s}^2) \,.$$

Now we must turn our attention to the terms dependent on $F_{\text{med}}^{(ij)}$. Since we are here focusing on the propagation of a quark jet through the medium, we expect $d\hat{\sigma}_{qg}$ to provide the leading contribution to the medium enhancement. Specifically, relative to $d\hat{\sigma}_{qg}$, the other cross-sections will be suppressed by at least a factor of $\alpha_{s}(\theta Q)$. We are therefore motivated to introduce a momentum fraction $z = E_g/Q$ and a scale μ_s such that

$$\int \mathrm{d}E_{q,g} \ F_{\mathrm{med}}^{(qg)} \frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{\sigma}_{qg}^{\mathrm{vac}}}{\mathrm{d}\theta \mathrm{d}E_q \mathrm{d}E_g} \frac{E_q^n E_g^n}{Q^{2n}} = \int \mathrm{d}z \,\mathrm{d}\mu_{\mathrm{s}} \ F_{\mathrm{med}}^{(qg)} \frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{\sigma}_{qg}^{\mathrm{vac}}}{\mathrm{d}\theta \mathrm{d}z \mathrm{d}\mu_{\mathrm{s}}} z^n (1 - z - \mu_{\mathrm{s}}/Q)^n.$$
(3.6)

Written in this form, μ_s can be interpreted as the energy scale of the radiation over which $F_{\text{med}}^{(qg)}$ is inclusive for a given (z, θ) . By momentum conservation, one necessarily has that

$$F_{\rm med}^{(g_1g_2)} \frac{{\rm d}\hat{\sigma}_{g_1g_2}^{\rm vac}}{{\rm d}\theta{\rm d}E_{g_1}{\rm d}E_{g_2}} \frac{E_{g_1}^n E_{g_2}^n}{Q^{2n}} \le F_{\rm med}^{(g_1g_2)} \frac{{\rm d}\hat{\sigma}_{g_1g_2}^{\rm vac}}{{\rm d}\theta{\rm d}E_{g_1}{\rm d}E_{g_2}} z^n (\mu_{\rm s}/Q)^n, \tag{3.7}$$

$$F_{\rm med}^{(q_1q_2)} \frac{{\rm d}\hat{\sigma}_{q_1q_2}^{\rm vac}}{{\rm d}\theta {\rm d}E_{q_1} {\rm d}E_{q_2}} \frac{E_{q_1}^n E_{q_2}^n}{Q^{2n}} \le F_{\rm med}^{(q_1q_2)} \frac{{\rm d}\hat{\sigma}_{q_1q_2}^{\rm vac}}{{\rm d}\theta {\rm d}E_{q_1} {\rm d}E_{q_2}} (1-z)^n (\mu_{\rm s}/Q)^n.$$
(3.8)

Following conventional arguments of strong ordering, the $d\hat{\sigma}_{gg}$ and $d\hat{\sigma}_{qq}$ type cross-sections are largest when $\mu_s/Q \ll z$ and $\ln \theta^{-1} \gg 1$. Hence, we can identify each term which depends on $F_{\text{med}}^{(ij)}$ for $(i, j) \neq (q, g)$ as sub-leading, maximally scaling as $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s(\theta Q) \ln \theta \ \mu_s^n/Q^n)$ relative to $d\hat{\sigma}_{qg}$. And so, we write the medium contribution to the observable as

$$\sum_{ij\in\{g,q,\bar{q}\}} \int dE_{i,j} F_{\text{med}}^{(ij)} \frac{d\hat{\sigma}_{ij}^{\text{vac}}}{d\theta dE_i dE_j} \frac{E_i^n E_j^n}{Q^{2n}} = \int dz F_{\text{med}}^{(qg)} \frac{d\hat{\sigma}_{qg}^{\text{vac}}}{d\theta dz} z^n (1-z)^n \left(1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\bar{\mu}_s}{Q}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\alpha_s(\theta Q) \ln \theta \frac{\bar{\mu}_s^n}{Q^n}\right)\right).$$
(3.9)

Here the first quoted error comes from neglecting complete momentum conservation in the energy weighting of the $q \rightarrow qg$ term, note that $d\hat{\sigma}_{ij}$ still keeps complete energy conservation.

 $^{^{4}}$ The running coupling slightly breaks the simple exponentiation of the anomalous dimension [85], see [80] and appendix A.

 $\bar{\mu}_{\rm s}$ is the cross-section weighted average inclusivity scale ($\bar{\mu}_{\rm s} = \frac{1}{\hat{\sigma}} \int \frac{d\hat{\sigma}}{d\mu_{\rm s} dz} \mu_{\rm s} d\mu_{\rm s}$). Typically, in the high energy limit, $d(F_{\rm med}\hat{\sigma}_{ij}^{\rm vac})/d\omega \sim (\omega)^{-3/2} \omega_c^{1/2} \Theta(Q > \omega \gtrsim \mu)$ where ω is the energy of a quanta of radiation over which our computation is inclusive, ω_c is the characteristic scale for soft in-medium radiation,⁵ and μ is the screening mass of the medium [86]. Therefore, we are led to assume that $\bar{\mu}_{\rm s}/Q \sim \sqrt{\mu/Q}$. We treat the $\mathcal{O}(\bar{\mu}_{\rm s}/Q)$ corrections as small in this paper. At this point we stress that, due to the inclusivity of the observable, neglecting the additional energy radiated by the jet through interactions with the medium ($\bar{\mu}_{\rm s}$) is not equivalent to neglecting the energy loss in typical jet substructure observables employed in heavy-ions, such as $z_{\rm g}$ or $\theta_{\rm g}$ which are exclusive. We will further discuss this point and outline how to systematically improve the approximations made here in section 5.⁶ From here on we will drop the second error term as it will always be parametrically smaller than the first in the perturbative region of the observable (where $\alpha_{\rm s} \ln \theta^{-1} < 1$). We will also drop the (qg) superscript on $F_{\rm med}^{(qg)}$.

Upon combining the vacuum resummation in eq. (3.5) with eq. (3.9), we reach the master equation for our analysis,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\Sigma^{(n)}}{\mathrm{d}\theta} = \frac{1}{\sigma} \int \mathrm{d}z \left(g^{(n)}(\theta, \alpha_{\mathrm{s}}) + F_{\mathrm{med}}(z, \theta) \right) \frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{\sigma}_{qg}^{\mathrm{vac}}}{\mathrm{d}\theta \mathrm{d}z} z^{n} (1-z)^{n} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\bar{\mu}_{\mathrm{s}}}{Q}\right) \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\Lambda_{\mathrm{QCD}}}{\theta Q}\right) ,$$
(3.10)

in which we can use $F_{\text{med}}(z,\theta)$ obtained within different jet quenching formalisms. Here $g^{(n)}$ contains the vacuum resummation, i.e. $g^{(1)} = \theta^{\gamma(3)} + \mathcal{O}(\theta)$ at fixed coupling given $d\hat{\sigma}_{qg}^{\text{vac}}$ at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$:

$$\frac{1}{\sigma} \frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{\sigma}_{qg}^{\mathrm{vac}}}{\mathrm{d}\theta \mathrm{d}z} = \frac{\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}(\theta Q)}{\pi} C_{\mathrm{F}} \frac{1 + (1 - z)^2}{z \ \theta} + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}^2, \theta^0) \,. \tag{3.11}$$

See appendix A.3 for complete expressions for $g^{(n)}$ including the running coupling. Note that by construction the two-point correlator in p-p collisions, $d\Sigma_{vac}^{(n)}/d\theta$, is achieved by setting $F_{med} = 0$ in (3.10).

Before moving on, a word on model dependent errors. In this paper, to simplify the computation of F_{med} , we will be using two further assumptions. Firstly, that F_{med} is dominated by the initial hardest $q \to qg$ splitting, ignoring the resummation of multiple medium-induced emissions. This will introduce a multiplicative error to the integrand of eq. (3.10) of the form $\mathcal{O}\left(\alpha_{\rm s}\ln\theta_{\rm onset}^{-1}\right)$ where $\theta_{\rm onset}$ is the smallest angle at which $|F_{\rm med}|$ is parametrically $\gtrsim 1$. Secondly, when computing $F_{\rm med}$ within jet quenching formalisms which account for multiple in-medium scatterings, we will make use of a *semi-hard approximation* for the parton-medium scatterings in which all partons propagate eikonally undergoing medium-induced colour rotations. This is valid provided $1 - \mu_{\rm s}/Q > z > \mu_{\rm s}/Q$, and so we introduce a further multiplicative error in the integrand of eq. (3.10) of the form $\mathcal{O}\left(\bar{\mu}_{\rm s}/zQ\right)$. For approaches which only include a single medium scattering, instead of resumming multiple eikonal interactions, an $\mathcal{O}\left(n_0L\right)$ error arises with n_0 being the linear density of scattering centers and L the medium length.

⁵In the harmonic oscillator approximation of the soft spectrum one finds that $\omega_c = \hat{q}L^2/2$ where \hat{q} is the transport coefficient and L is the medium length.

⁶See also [87] for the first estimates of the impact of energy loss effects on the in-medium EEC.

3.2 Multiple scattering framework for in-medium interactions

The usual approach to calculate medium-induced radiation accounting for multiple scatterings is through the BDMPS-Z perturbative QCD formalism [50-53]. In this setup, one considers the high-energy limit in which the momentum transfer between the probe and the medium is only transverse,⁷ and thus multiple interactions can be resummed in terms of an in-medium propagator taking the following form⁸

$$\mathcal{G}_{R}(\boldsymbol{x}_{1}, t_{1}; \boldsymbol{x}_{0}, t_{0}; p^{+}) = \int_{\boldsymbol{r}(t_{0})=\boldsymbol{x}_{0}}^{\boldsymbol{r}(t_{1})=\boldsymbol{x}_{1}} \mathcal{D}\boldsymbol{r} \exp\left[i\frac{p^{+}}{2}\int_{t_{0}}^{t_{1}} \mathrm{d}s\, \dot{\boldsymbol{r}}^{2}(s)\right] W_{R}(t_{1}, t_{0}; [\boldsymbol{r}]), \qquad (3.12)$$

where W_R is a Wilson line in the representation R given by

$$W_R(t_1, t_0; [\mathbf{r}]) = \mathcal{P} \exp\left[ig \int_{t_0}^{t_1} \mathrm{d}t \, T_R^a \, A^{-,a}(t, \mathbf{r}(t))\right] \,, \tag{3.13}$$

with T_R^a a colour matrix in the representation R and $A^{-,a}$ a classical background describing the medium.

These propagators are used to calculate cross sections for fixed configurations of the background field, then one must take a weighted average over all possible such configurations to produce an observable. A gaussian average is assumed, where the only non-trivial correlation is the two-point function, which explicitly depends on the medium parameters,

$$\left\langle A^{-,a}(t,\boldsymbol{r})A^{\dagger-,b}(t',\boldsymbol{r}')\right\rangle = \delta^{ab}\,\delta(t-t')\,n(t)\,\gamma(\boldsymbol{r}-\boldsymbol{r}')\,,\tag{3.14}$$

with *n* the linear density of scattering centers and $\gamma(\mathbf{r})$ the Fourier transform of the collision rate. When taking averages of combinations of in-medium propagators one must expand to all orders, consider all possible field pairings, and resum the final result. For the inclusive cross section to produce two partons the resummation is far from straightforward, as has been shown in [93–95] where partial results have been achieved. Given that we need to keep track of both the splitting energy fraction *z* and the splitting angle θ , we cannot make use of previous approaches used for energy loss where only the soft limit was considered ($z \rightarrow 0$) [56, 86, 96], or for branching rates where the angular dependence is lost [52, 53, 97– 99]. Instead, we use a semi-hard approximation [48, 49] which is expected to give accurate results as long as the daughter partons are not too soft. In that setup, all partons are sufficiently energetic to propagate eikonally, thus following straight-line trajectories in coordinate space, which considerably simplifies the calculation of the medium averages. The in-medium propagator in (3.12) then takes the form

$$\mathcal{G}(\boldsymbol{x}_1, t_1; \boldsymbol{x}_0, t_0; p^+) \approx \mathcal{G}_0(\boldsymbol{x}_1, t_1; \boldsymbol{x}_0, t_0; p^+) W_R(t_1, t_0; [\boldsymbol{x}_{cl}(t)]) , \qquad (3.15)$$

where $\boldsymbol{x}_{\mathrm{cl}} = rac{t_1-t}{t_1-t_0} \boldsymbol{x}_0 + rac{t-t_0}{t_1-t_0} \boldsymbol{x}_1$ is the classical trajectory and

$$\mathcal{G}_0(\boldsymbol{x}_1, t_1; \boldsymbol{x}_0, t_0; p^+) = \frac{p^+}{2\pi i (t_1 - t_0)} e^{\frac{i p^+ (\boldsymbol{x}_1 - \boldsymbol{x}_0)^2}{2(t_1 - t_0)}}, \qquad (3.16)$$

⁷For recent generalisations accounting for full momentum transfer between the medium and the probe see [88-92].

⁸In this section we use light-cone coordinates (p^+, p^-, p) , where $p^{\pm} \equiv (p^0 \pm p^3)/\sqrt{2}$ and p is the transverse momentum. Analogously, in coordinate space we use (x^+, x^-, x) , where $x^{\pm} \equiv (x^0 \pm x^3)/\sqrt{2}$ and x is the transverse position.

is the vacuum version of the propagator. Following [48], the high-energy limit of the transverse Fourier transform is taken as

$$\mathcal{G}(\boldsymbol{p}, t_1; \boldsymbol{p}_0, t_0; E) \approx (2\pi)^2 \delta^2(\boldsymbol{p} - \boldsymbol{p}_0) e^{-i\frac{\boldsymbol{p}_1^2}{2E}(t_1 - t_0)} W_R(t_1, t_0, [\boldsymbol{n}t]), \qquad (3.17)$$

with $\boldsymbol{n} = \boldsymbol{p}/E$.

The approximations taken to arrive at the simplified expression for the propagator in (3.17) might limit the range of applicability of this approach. Nevertheless, the fact that the energy correlators give more weight to splittings where none of the daughter partons is too soft plays to our advantage since that is precisely the region where the semi-hard approximation works best (see section 5 for a more detailed discussion). The simplicity of the propagator in (3.17) allows us to obtain analytical results for the two-particle inclusive cross section for simplified models of the medium averages, thus allowing us to identify the relevant scales entering the calculation and explore their relation with those appearing as changes in the shape of the energy correlators.

Let us consider a $1 \rightarrow 2$ splitting with the initial parton having energy E and the daughter partons having energies zE, (1-z)E and transverse momentum p_1, p_2 respectively. Using the in-medium propagators one can easily construct the corresponding amplitude for this process, square it and then take the average over medium configurations [48, 49]. At leading colour, the cross section can be expressed in terms of averages of only two (dipole) or four (quadrupole) Wilson lines in the fundamental representation, accounting for the multiple scatterings of all partons along their fixed trajectories, both on the amplitude and the conjugate amplitude. We take these trajectories as

$$\mathbf{r}_{0}(s) = 0,
 \mathbf{r}_{1}(s) = \mathbf{n}_{1}(s-t),
 \mathbf{r}_{\overline{1}}(s) = \mathbf{n}_{1}(s-\overline{t}),
 \mathbf{r}_{2}(s) = \mathbf{n}_{2}(s-t),
 \mathbf{r}_{\overline{2}}(s) = \mathbf{n}_{2}(s-\overline{t}),$$
(3.18)

with $n_1 = p_1/((1-z)E)$, $n_2 = p_2/(zE)$, and t and \bar{t} the splitting times in the amplitude and conjugate amplitude respectively.

The dipoles appearing in this calculation can be written as

$$S_{\mathrm{IJ}}(t_b, t_a) \equiv \frac{1}{N_c} \langle \mathrm{tr}[W_F(t_b, t_a; [\boldsymbol{r}_I]) W_F^{\dagger}(t_b, t_a; [\boldsymbol{r}_J])] \rangle = \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2} \int_{t_a}^{t_b} \mathrm{d}s \, n(s) \,\sigma_{\mathrm{IJ}}(s)\right],$$
(3.19)

with $I, J \in \{0, 1, 2, \overline{1}, \overline{2}\}, \sigma_{IJ}(s) = \sigma(\mathbf{r}_I(s) - \mathbf{r}_J(s))$, and σ is the so-called dipole cross section given by

$$\sigma(\mathbf{r}) = g^2 \left[\gamma(\mathbf{0}) - \gamma(\mathbf{r}) \right] \,. \tag{3.20}$$

We note that in order to simplify the notation in (3.19), we have dropped the explicit dependence on t or/and \bar{t} that comes through σ_{IJ} .

On the other hand, only one quadrupole appears, which reads

$$Q(t_b, t_a) = S_{1\bar{1}}(t_b, t_a) S_{2\bar{2}}(t_b, t_a) + \int_{t_a}^{t_b} \mathrm{d}s \, S_{1\bar{1}}(t_b, s) S_{2\bar{2}}(t_b, s) \, T(s) \, S_{12}(s, t_a) S_{\bar{1}\bar{2}}(s, t_a) \,,$$
(3.21)

with the transition matrix T being

$$T(s) = -\frac{n(s)}{2} \left(\sigma_{12}(s) + \sigma_{\bar{1}\bar{2}}(s) - \sigma_{1\bar{2}}(s) - \sigma_{\bar{1}2}(s) \right).$$
(3.22)

As shown in [49], F_{med} in the semi-hard approximation takes the form

$$F_{\rm med}(z,\theta) = 2 \int_0^L \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t_{\rm f}} \left[\int_t^L \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{t}}{t_{\rm f}} \cos\left(\frac{\bar{t}-t}{t_{\rm f}}\right) C^{(4)}(L,\bar{t},t) C^{(3)}(\bar{t},t) - \sin\left(\frac{L-t}{t_{\rm f}}\right) C^{(3)}(L,t) \right],$$
(3.23)

where the formation time $t_{\rm f}$ is given by

$$t_{\rm f} = \frac{2}{z(1-z)E\theta^2}\,,\tag{3.24}$$

and $C^{(n)}(t_a, t_b)$ are *n*-particle correlators which can be written in terms of the dipoles and quadrupole above, but whose explicit form varies depending on the identity of the partons in the splitting.

For the rest of this manuscript we will focus on the $q \rightarrow qg$ splitting. In this case and for leading colour, the three- and four-point functions read (see [48, 49])

$$C^{(3)}(\bar{t},t) = S_{02}(\bar{t},t) S_{12}(\bar{t},t) , \qquad (3.25)$$

$$C^{(4)}(L,\bar{t},t) = Q(L,\bar{t}) S_{2\bar{2}}(L,\bar{t}), \qquad (3.26)$$

where we have re-established the t dependence in $C^{(4)}$ coming from the trajectories r_1, r_2 .

In order to continue with the evaluation of F_{med} , which we will perform at fixed coupling, we must specify the details of the parton-medium interaction encoded in $\sigma(\mathbf{r})$. We will restrict ourselves to the case of a static QGP of length L with constant linear density of scatterings $n(s) = n_0 \Theta(L - s)$, the so-called "brick" case. This simplification allows us to recognise the relevant scales entering the calculation which will play an important role when analysing the changing shape of the energy correlators after numerical evaluation. Extensions of this formalism to more realistic medium profiles will be explored in future publications.

In this static medium case, it is easy to see that $C^{(4)}(L, \bar{t}, t)$ actually depends only on the differences $L - \bar{t}$ and $\bar{t} - t$, while $C^{(3)}(\bar{t}, t)$ depends only on $\bar{t} - t$. This will be explicitly showed in the following subsections, where we will specify the functional form of σ and derive the corresponding *n*-point functions. Defining the following re-scaled *n*-point functions

$$C^{(3)}(\bar{t},t) = \tilde{C}^{(3)}\left(\frac{\bar{t}-t}{L}\right), \qquad C^{(4)}(L,\bar{t},t) = \tilde{C}^{(4)}\left(\frac{L-\bar{t}}{L},\frac{\bar{t}-t}{L}\right), \qquad (3.27)$$

the expression for F_{med} in (3.23) can then be written as

$$F_{\rm med}(z,\theta) = \frac{2L}{t_{\rm f}} \int_0^1 \mathrm{d}\tau_L \left[-\sin\left(\frac{L}{t_{\rm f}}\tau_L\right) \tilde{C}^{(3)}(\tau_L) + \frac{L}{t_{\rm f}} \int_0^{1-\tau_L} \mathrm{d}\tau \cos\left(\frac{L}{t_{\rm f}}\tau\right) \tilde{C}^{(4)}(\tau_L,\tau) \tilde{C}^{(3)}(\tau) \right]$$
(3.28)

which can be directly plugged into our master equation (3.10) to obtain the two-point energy correlator of an in-medium massless quark jet.

The expression above reflects the fact that emissions with a formation time larger than the length of the medium are not affected by it, and thus F_{med} is suppressed by an overall $(L/t_{\text{f}})^2$ factor for $t_{\text{f}} \gg L$. The separation between kinematical regions with formation times either larger or smaller than the length of the medium defines an angular scale

$$\theta_{\rm L} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{EL}} \,, \tag{3.29}$$

which parametrically indicates the minimum angle for emissions to be sensitive to medium modifications.

3.2.1 Harmonic oscillator approximation

We first consider the Harmonic Oscillator (HO) approximation, which uses a simplified form of the dipole cross section σ and allows us to compute analytically the *n*-point functions entering the expression for F_{med} [48, 49]. This approach has been shown to be a reasonable approximation to more realistic interaction models in the regions of phase space where the multiple scatterings with the medium play an important role [86, 100].

In this setup, the dipole cross section in coordinate space is quadratic and reads

$$n_0 \sigma_{\rm HO}(\mathbf{r}) = \frac{1}{2} \hat{q} \, \mathbf{r}^2 \,,$$
 (3.30)

where \hat{q} is the so-called jet quenching parameter that characterises the average transverse momentum squared transferred from the medium per unit path length.

Plugging this expression into (3.19) one can show that the three- and four-point correlators at leading colour within the HO approach are given by (see [49])

$$\tilde{C}_{\rm HO}^{(3)}(\tau) = \exp\left[-\frac{1}{12}\left(\frac{\theta}{\theta_{\rm c}}\right)^2 \tau^3 (1+(1-z)^2)\right],$$
(3.31)

and

$$\tilde{C}_{\rm HO}^{(4)}(\tau_L,\tau) = e^{-\frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{\theta}{\theta_c}\right)^2 \tau_L \tau^2 (z^2 + 2(1-z)^2)} \\ \times \left(1 - \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\theta}{\theta_c}\right)^2 z(1-z) \tau^2 \int_0^{\tau_L} \mathrm{d}\tau_s \, e^{-\frac{1}{12} \left(\frac{\theta}{\theta_c}\right)^2 \tau_s^2 (2\tau_s + 3\tau)} e^{-\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\theta}{\theta_c}\right)^2 z(1-z) \tau_s \tau^2}\right),$$
(3.32)

with

$$\theta_{\rm c} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\hat{q}L^3}} \,. \tag{3.33}$$

We can plug these expressions directly into (3.28) and perform the integrations numerically to get F_{med} , as done in [49].

As noted in the analysis presented in [48], one can easily see that for $\theta \ll \theta_c$ both $\tilde{C}^{(3)}$ and $\tilde{C}^{(4)}$ are very close to 1 and thus there is a complete cancellation between the two terms in (3.28). This suppression of F_{med} yields to the interpretation of θ_c as the critical angle determining whether the medium can resolve the two daughter partons or if it sees them as a single colour charge. Of course, this distinction is only relevant when $t_{\rm f}$ is short enough to actually have a formed pair inside the medium. Therefore, if $\theta_{\rm L} \gg \theta_{\rm c}$ all emissions occurring inside the medium are automatically resolved, and $\theta_{\rm c}$ becomes irrelevant. We will refer to this case as the *decoherent* (DC) limit. In the opposite case, $\theta_{\rm L} \ll \theta_{\rm c}$, there is an intermediate region in which emissions can occur inside the medium while not being resolved by it, thus yielding a smaller $F_{\rm med}$ than those emissions which are fully resolved. This case will be referred as the *partially coherent* (PC) limit. This clear distinction between the possible orderings of the angular scales is a direct consequence of colour coherence effects in the splitting process and will be used in section 4 when analysing the behaviour of the energy correlators for different sets of values of the medium and jet parameters.

3.2.2 Yukawa collision rate

Even though the HO approximation is very useful, as it allows us to clearly identify the relevant angular scales, it has well known shortcomings, mainly the absence of the large transverse momentum tails. In the weakly coupled picture of the QGP being considered here, the medium has point-like constituents with Coulomb-like interactions at short distances which manifest as a power-like distribution for large transverse momentum transfers instead of the exponential fall of the HO approximation.

In order to incorporate the effect of such tails in our analysis, we now consider a more realistic model for parton-medium interactions. We use a Yukawa collision rate as implemented in the Gyulassy-Wang model [101] through

$$V_{\rm Y}(\boldsymbol{q}) = \frac{8\pi\mu^2}{\left(\boldsymbol{q}^2 + \mu^2\right)^2}\,,\tag{3.34}$$

where μ^2 is the screening mass. This collision rate is directly related to the average of two fields γ in (3.14) through a Fourier transform, $V(\mathbf{q}) = g^2 \int d^2 \mathbf{r} \, e^{-i\mathbf{r}\cdot\mathbf{q}} \, \gamma(\mathbf{r})$. The corresponding dipole cross-section in coordinate space can then be easily obtained, yielding

$$\sigma_{\rm Y}(\mathbf{r}) = 2 \left[1 - \mu |\mathbf{r}| K_1(\mu |\mathbf{r}|) \right] \,, \tag{3.35}$$

where K_1 is the modified Bessel function of the second kind. This can then be employed to calculate the dipoles S_{IJ} in (3.19) and the quadrupole Q in (3.21) to be used in the *n*-point functions. These take the following form:

$$\tilde{C}_{Y}^{(3)}(\tau) = \exp\left\{-n_{0}L\left(2\tau - \int_{0}^{\tau} d\tau_{s}\,\mu\,\theta L\,\tau_{s}\left[(1-z)\,K_{1}\left(\mu\left(1-z\right)\theta\,\tau_{s}\,L\right) + K_{1}\left(\mu\,\theta\,\tau_{s}\,L\right)\right]\right)\right\},\tag{3.36}$$

and

$$\tilde{C}_{Y}^{(4)}(\tau_{L},\tau) = \exp\left\{-n_{0}L\tau_{L}\left[3-2\mu\left(1-z\right)\theta\tau LK_{1}\left(\mu\left(1-z\right)\theta\tau L\right)-\mu z\theta\tau LK_{1}\left(\mu z\theta\tau L\right)\right]\right\} \times \left(1+\int_{0}^{\tau_{L}}d\tau_{s}LT\left(\tau_{s},\tau\right)\exp\left\{-n_{0}\mu\theta\tau_{s}\tau L^{2}\right. \\ \times\left[\left(1-z\right)K_{1}\left(\mu\left(1-z\right)\theta\tau L\right)+zK_{1}\left(\mu z\theta\tau L\right)\right]\right\} \times \exp\left\{n_{0}L\mu\theta\int_{0}^{\tau_{s}}d\tau_{s}'\left[\left(\tau_{s}'+\tau\right)LK_{1}\left(\mu\theta\left(\tau_{s}'+\tau\right)L\right)+\tau_{s}'LK_{1}\left(\mu\theta\tau_{s}'L\right)\right]\right\}\right),$$

$$(3.37)$$

where the transition matrix $T(\tau_s, \tau)$ reads

$$T(\tau_{s},\tau) = -n_{0}L \,\mu \,\theta \left[-(\tau_{s}+\tau) \,K_{1} \left(\mu \,\theta \left(\tau_{s}+\tau\right) L\right) - \tau_{s} \,K_{1} \left(\mu \,\theta \,\tau_{s} L\right) \right. \\ \left. + \left[(1-z) \left(\tau_{s}+\tau\right) + z \,\tau_{s} \right] K_{1} \left(\mu \,\theta \left[(1-z) \left(\tau_{s}+\tau\right) + z \,\tau_{s} \right] L\right) \right. \\ \left. + \left[(1-z) \,\tau_{s} + z \left(\tau_{s}+\tau\right) \right] K_{1} \left(\mu \,\theta \left[(1-z) \,\tau_{s} + z \left(\tau_{s}+\tau\right) \right] L\right) \right].$$
(3.38)

All integrations in the formulas above must be performed numerically, which means that we cannot extract directly from the formulas the relevant angular scales as in the HO case. Nevertheless, the discussion about the two competing angular scales, $\theta_{\rm L}$ and $\theta_{\rm c}$, is still valid and we anticipate seeing the distinction between the two regimes, DC and PC, described in the previous subsection.

The dynamics in this model is expected to be dominated by the behaviour of the dipole cross-section at small distances,

$$\sigma_{\rm Y}(\boldsymbol{r}) \stackrel{\boldsymbol{r}\to 0}{\approx} \mu^2 \boldsymbol{r}^2 \ln \frac{1}{|\boldsymbol{r}|} \,. \tag{3.39}$$

Neglecting the logarithmic dependence and comparing to (3.30) we see that parametrically the jet quenching parameter \hat{q} appearing in the HO approximation is related to the parameters entering the Yukawa interaction model by $\hat{q} \sim n_0 \mu^2$. This correspondence will be used to define the angular scale θ_c for the Yukawa collision rate since its definition in (3.33) is given in terms of \hat{q} .

3.3 Single scattering framework for in-medium interactions (GLV)

Alternatively, for dilute media, one can consider the evaluation of the two-particle crosssection in an opacity expansion, where a series is defined in terms of the number of scatterings between the probe and the medium. This approach has been widely used in the soft case $(z \rightarrow 0)$, where analytical results to first order in opacity are available [54, 56] and some numerical analyses for higher orders have been explored [55, 102]. Going beyond the soft limit, the splitting functions for arbitrary values of z at first order in opacity were calculated in [57] and a method to recursively obtain higher orders was derived in [95, 103], where it is clearly seen that the complexity of the formulas grows very fast when the number of scatterings is increased.

The downside of this approach is that it gives incorrect results in regions of phase space where one expects multiple scatterings to be important. It does not fully incorporate the Landau-Pomeranchuk-Migdal (LPM) effect where several scatterings act in a coherent way during a single emission, thus yielding to unitarity issues which can manifest as either too large or negative cross sections. On the other hand, in this approach there is no need to use the semi-hard approximation employed in the multiple scattering case of section 3.2, and thus one can keep the transverse momentum broadening of the daughter partons.

In this single scattering framework, we can calculate F_{med} for the $q \to qg$ splitting using the formulas in [57] adapted to our notation. As in the multiple scattering case, we use a uniform medium with constant linear density $n(s) = n_0 \Theta(L-s)$, yielding

$$F_{\rm med}(z,\theta) = \frac{2\pi n_0}{z(1-z)E} \int_{\mathbf{k}} \delta\left(|\mathbf{k}| - z(1-z)E\theta\right) \int_0^L dt \int_{\mathbf{q}} V_{\rm Y}(\mathbf{q}) \\ \times \mathbf{k}^2 \left[\frac{\mathbf{k} + z\mathbf{q}}{(\mathbf{k} + z\mathbf{q})^2} \cdot \left(\frac{2C_{\rm F}}{N_c} \frac{\mathbf{k} + z\mathbf{q}}{(\mathbf{k} + z\mathbf{q})^2} - \frac{\mathbf{k} - (1-z)\mathbf{q}}{(\mathbf{k} - (1-z)\mathbf{q})^2} + \frac{1}{N_c^2} \frac{\mathbf{k}}{\mathbf{k}^2} \right) [1 - \cos\left(\Omega_1 t\right)] \\ + \frac{\mathbf{k} - (1-z)\mathbf{q}}{(\mathbf{k} - (1-z)\mathbf{q})^2} \cdot \left(\frac{2(\mathbf{k} - (1-z)\mathbf{q})}{(\mathbf{k} - (1-z)\mathbf{q})^2} - \frac{\mathbf{k} + z\mathbf{q}}{(\mathbf{k} + z\mathbf{q})^2} - \frac{\mathbf{k}}{\mathbf{k}^2} \right) [1 - \cos\left(\Omega_2 t\right)] \\ + \frac{(\mathbf{k} + z\mathbf{q}) \cdot (\mathbf{k} - (1-z)\mathbf{q})}{(\mathbf{k} + z\mathbf{q})^2 (\mathbf{k} - (1-z)\mathbf{q})^2} [1 - \cos\left(\Omega_3 t\right)] \\ + \frac{\mathbf{k}}{\mathbf{k}^2} \cdot \left(\frac{\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{q}}{(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{q})^2} - \frac{\mathbf{k}}{\mathbf{k}^2} \right) [1 - \cos\left(\Omega_4 t\right)] - \frac{\mathbf{k} \cdot (\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{q})}{\mathbf{k}^2 (\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{q})^2} [1 - \cos\left(\Omega_5 t\right)] \right],$$

$$(3.40)$$

where we have used the shorthand $\int_{\boldsymbol{q}} = \int d^2 \boldsymbol{q}/(2\pi)^2$ and $V_{\rm Y}$ is the Yukawa collision rate given in (3.34). We have defined \boldsymbol{k} as the relative transverse momentum of the daughter partons and

$$\Omega_{1} = \frac{(\mathbf{k} + z\mathbf{q})^{2}}{2z(1-z)E}, \quad \Omega_{2} = \frac{(\mathbf{k} - (1-z)\mathbf{q})^{2}}{2z(1-z)E}, \quad \Omega_{3} = \frac{(\mathbf{k} - (1-z)\mathbf{q})^{2} - (\mathbf{k} + z\mathbf{q})^{2}}{2z(1-z)E},$$
$$\Omega_{4} = \frac{\mathbf{k}^{2}}{2z(1-z)E}, \quad \Omega_{5} = \frac{\mathbf{k}^{2} - (\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{q})^{2}}{2z(1-z)E}.$$
(3.41)

The formula above for F_{med} shows clear differences with the results for the multiple scattering case. In particular, we can see that the angular scales we extracted from the previous analyses do not appear as clear cut here. The lack of medium enhancement for splittings with long formation times in the multiple scattering approaches was related to the arguments of the sine and cosine in (3.28) being the same, whereas here the arguments of all the cosines are different. Similarly, the distinction between coherent and incoherent emissions was a consequence of the exponential suppression factors in the *n*-point correlators, which are absent here as well. The physical principles behind these features of the medium enhancement are still valid, and thus we still expect to see differences between the different regimes where the splitting occurs outside of the medium or where the medium cannot resolve the individual daughter partons. Nevertheless, the boundaries between those regions are expected to be loosely defined and the transition regions to be larger.

4 Numerical results

To further proceed in the computation of the two-point energy correlator given in eq. (3.10), one must numerically evaluate F_{med} in the single and multiple in-medium scatterings approaches described in the previous section. Then, F_{med} is combined with the analytic NLL expressions for $g^{(n)}$ given in appendix A.3 and the remaining z integral in (3.10) is performed via Monte Carlo integration.

Figure 3 shows a sample of the results for the n = 1 energy correlator, $d\Sigma^{(1)}/d\theta$, for each jet quenching formalism and for reasonable values of the medium parameters. All



Figure 3. Top: the n = 1 EEC in (3.10) of a E = 100 GeV quark jet evaluated through the multiple scattering HO (green), multiple scattering Yukawa (blue), and single scattering GLV (red) approaches compared to the vacuum NLL result (black dashed). Both plots show the same curves, either with (left) or without (right) log scaling on the y-axis. Bottom: same as the top panel for different sets of medium parameters chosen so the amplitude and onset of the medium enhancement qualitatively match among the different models. All curves are normalised by $\Sigma_{\text{vac}}^{(1)} \equiv \int_{-5}^{0} d\Sigma_{\text{vac}}^{(1)} d\theta d(\ln \theta)$.

the curves are almost identical to the vacuum result for small angles. This follows our expectations as the small angle structure is dominated by splittings with a formation time much larger than the length of the medium and so do not have a significant medium modification. This argument is model independent, which agrees with what is seen in figure 3, where the point at which the in-medium EEC deviates from the vacuum baseline does not depend on the particular model used for the interactions with the medium. At larger angles, the in-medium EEC presents an excess with respect to the vacuum curve due to medium-induced radiation. The particular features of this enhancement depend on the formalism used to obtain $F_{\rm med}$, with larger differences between models at larger angles (see the top panels of figure 3). This too follows intuition, since wider angle structures in the EEC are formed from events with a large overall transverse momentum transfer from the medium, which is the region where the different medium-induced radiation approaches differ the most. In contrast, smaller angle structures in the medium enhancement are dominated by the more universal harder collinear physics in the limit where the in-medium scatterings are very soft relative to the jet partons, causing only small amounts of broadening. It is,



Figure 4. The n = 1 EEC in (3.10) of a 100 GeV quark jet evaluated within the multiple scattering HO approach for several values of the medium parameters compared to the vacuum NLL result, as indicated in the legend. All curves are normalised by the integrated vacuum result $\Sigma_{\rm vac}^{(1)}$.

however, worth noticing that slightly varying the medium parameters allows us to bring the results yielded by the different jet quenching approaches into close qualitative agreement across a much broader angular range, as shown in the bottom panel of figure 3, and thus one must be careful of not drawing conclusions before exploring the full dependence of the shape of the EEC on all the parameters. For completeness, we show the results on the EEC with an energy weight n = 2 in figure 9 of appendix B, which are in qualitatively agreement with the n = 1 results presented here.

To illustrate the dependence of the shape of the EEC on the medium parameters, we show in figure 4 the n = 1 EEC spectrum computed within the multiple scattering HO approach for different sets of medium parameters.⁹ One can observe that for the simplified brick of length L used in this manuscript the angle at which the in-medium EEC starts to deviate from the vacuum result (the onset angle) is mostly dependent on L, whilst the area of the medium enhancement (amplitude) depends on both \hat{q} and L. We would like to quantitatively determine how features of the EEC spectra scale with the medium and jet parameters, with the ultimate goal of studying the correlator spectra's sensitivity to the dynamics of colour coherence. To this end, we generalise the fitting procedure used for the EEC computed within the HO approach in [27], so it allows us to study the signatures of coherence within all the medium-induced radiation approaches considered in this manuscript.¹⁰ This improved fitting method, which we outline in the following section, increases both the robustness and model independence of our analysis.

⁹See appendix B for additional figures showing the two-point correlator within all the jet quenching models considered in this paper and different sets of parameters.

 $^{^{10}}$ We do not study in this manuscript the onset angle, previously explored in [27], as it is not necessary to determine the emergence of colour coherence and its extraction is challenging in the GLV approach due to the more gradual vacuum to medium enhancement transition.



Figure 5. The $dP^{(1)}/d\theta$ in eq. (4.1) distribution normalised by its area $P^{(1)}$ evaluated through the multiple scattering Yukawa approach (see section 3.2.2) for a quark jet of energy E = 100 GeV in a medium of L = 5 fm, $\mu = 1$ GeV and $n_0 = 2$ fm⁻¹. Each curve corresponds to a given value of the parameter c in (4.1), as indicated in the legend.

4.1 Analysis procedure

We first introduce the basic distribution for our analysis, which allows us to determine the positions of the peak θ_{peak} of the medium enhancements observed in figure 3 as well as to access the gradient of the enhancement to the left of the peak. This distribution is given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}P^{(n)}}{\mathrm{d}\theta} = \theta^c \left[\frac{\mathrm{d}\Sigma^{(n)}}{\mathrm{d}\theta} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\Sigma^{(n)}_{\mathrm{vac}}}{\mathrm{d}\theta} \right)^{-1} - 1 \right], \qquad (4.1)$$

where the constant c is used as a tool to explore different angular regions in the correlator spectra, since using c < 0 allows us to shift the peak position to smaller angles by an amount inversely proportional to the gradient of the enhancement near the peak. In the following we will set c = -2, -1.5, -1, 0, in order to achieve shifts of different sizes. We note that for c = -1 the peak position in $dP^{(n)}/d\theta$ is equal to the peak position in $d\Sigma^{(n)}/d\theta$ up to very small logarithmic corrections, and thus by fixing c = -1 we recover the analysis method employed in [27]. We illustrate our current procedure in figure 5, where we present the $dP^{(1)}/d\theta$ distribution evaluated through the multiple scattering approach with a Yukawa parton-medium interaction model described in section 3.2.2 for several values of c. We clearly observe that the smaller the value of c, the smaller the angle at which the peak appears. Indeed, for this particular set of parameters, we can see that for the largest value of c (c = 0) the peak is not visible, since the distribution peaks at $\theta > 1$.

In order to determine how θ_{peak} scales in terms of the medium parameters and jet energy, in a given jet quenching approach, we proceed as follows. For a comprehensive span of the jet and medium parameters, we compute the $dP^{(n)}/d\theta$ distributions with n = 1, 2 and c = -2, -1.5, -1, 0 and obtain the peak position θ_{peak} by fitting the peaked region of these distributions using a quintic polynomial. The positions of the peaks are then fitted to the parameters using both a *no-coherence* and a *coherence* power-law ansatz. The no-coherence approach consists of performing the power-law fit over the complete set of parameters for which the EEC curves were generated, and thus it assumes that the dependence of the peak position on the parameters is the same for all the sets of parameters considered. In contrast, the coherence ansatz assumes that the position of the peak scales differently with the medium parameters in the DC and PC limits defined at the end of section 3.2.1. We separate the regions through the critical energy E_c at which $\theta_c = \theta_L$, with the DC limit corresponding to $E \ll E_c$ and the PC limit to $E \gg E_c$. We perform the fits in the DC region using only the subsets for which $E < 0.8E_c$ (as a representation of $E \ll E_c$). For the fits in the PC regime, we employ only the $E > 1.2E_c$ parameter subsets.

Whilst we find the wide angle tails of the $dP^{(n)}/d\theta$ distributions to strongly depend on the energy weight n, we do not observe any significant dependence on n in the peak position within the accuracy of our numerical convergence. In the present numerical analysis we use the n = 2 distributions, since they yield the best extraction of θ_{peak} due to the slightly sharper shape of their peaks. We have checked that consistent fits are found from the n = 1 distributions.

All the power-law fits were performed using the Wolfram Mathematica FindFit and NonlinearModelFit functions using the "Principle Axis" method. We did not enforce the fits to be dimensionally correct, so we can use the mass dimension of the resulting power-law as a cross-check for the validity of the fit. The obtained scaling laws for each of the jet quenching formalisms, shown in section 4.2, are the core result of our numerical analysis. Finally, we present in section 4.3 a *jet energy sweep* which enables to clearly observe these scalings in a graphical form.

4.2 Distributions and scaling properties for different jet quenching formalisms

4.2.1 Approaches with multiple in-medium scatterings

Harmonic Oscillator Approximation. In order to analyse the presence of colour coherence in the multiple scattering HO approach described in section 3.2.1, we followed the above mentioned procedure generating the $dP^{(n)}/d\theta$ distributions for 332 sets of parameters within the ranges: $E \in [20, 500]$ GeV, $L \in [1, 10]$ fm, and $\hat{q} \in [1, 3]$ GeV²fm⁻¹. The results of power-law fits to the peak angle are presented in table 1, where the number in square brackets in each row represents the mass dimension of the fit. The fits performed assuming the coherence ansatz, with critical energy given by $E_c = \hat{q}L^2$, are found to provide a good description of the peak position for all values of c. This is in striking contrast with the fits performed assuming the no-coherence ansatz, which fail for c = -1, as clearly indicated by the quoted mass dimension. This is an unequivocal indication of the ability of the EEC to be sensitive to the presence of colour coherence dynamics within the HO approach. It is worth noticing that, although for c = -2, -1.5, 0 the peak position can be approximately described by the no-coherence fits, the coherent scaling laws are still substantially preferred. While the scaling with respect to each parameter is individually sensitive to the dynamics of colour coherence, we can observe that the greatest sensitivity is manifested by the medium

Multiple scatterings: HO						
Scaling of $ heta_{ ext{peak}}$	c = -2	c = -1.5				
no-coherence	$\sim E^{-0.65} L^{-0.10} \hat{q}^{0.22} \ [0.11]$	$\sim E^{-0.70} L^{0.00} \hat{q}^{0.27} \ [0.12]$				
$E \ll E_{\rm c}$	$\sim E^{-0.79} L^{0.06} \hat{q}^{0.30} \ [0.04]$	$\sim E^{-0.85} L^{0.18} \hat{q}^{0.35} \ [0.02]$				
$E \gg E_{\rm c}$	$\sim E^{-0.55} L^{-0.37} \hat{q}^{0.07} \ [0.03]$	$\sim E^{-0.58} L^{-0.32} \hat{q}^{0.10} \ [0.03]$				
Scaling of $ heta_{ ext{peak}}$	c = -1	c = 0				
no-coherence	$\sim E^{-0.45} L^{0.86} \hat{q}^{-0.06} \ [-1.48]$	$\sim E^{-0.77} L^{-0.16} \hat{q}^{0.36} \ [0.14]$				
$E \ll E_{\rm c}$	$\sim E^{-0.89} L^{0.25} \hat{q}^{0.40} \ [0.05]$	$\sim E^{-0.91} L^{0.34} \hat{q}^{0.44} \ [0.07]$				
$E \gg E_{\rm c}$	$\sim E^{-0.59} L^{-0.32} \hat{q}^{0.09} \ [0.00]$	$\sim E^{-0.62} L^{-0.26} \hat{q}^{0.12} \ [0.02]$				

Table 1. Scaling of the peak position of the $dP^{(2)}/d\theta$ distribution in (4.1) for c = -2, -1.5, -1, 0 computed within the multiple scattering HO approach (see section 3.2.1). The no-coherence rows show the power-law obtained when all sets of parameters are fitted, while the other two rows correspond to the coherent anstaz separating the $E \ll E_c$ and $E \gg E_c$ sets, with $E_c = \hat{q}L^2$. In square brackets we show the mass dimension of each fit, as its proximity to zero provides a measure of the fit quality. For each fit in which the peak angle power-law presents a deviation of the mass dimension from zero smaller than 1, the errors on the power of the parameters are smaller or equal to ± 0.01 .

length. This agrees with our expectations from the dependence of θ_c with the medium parameters shown in eq. (3.33).

Having extracted these scaling laws, we can now appreciate that the different behaviour of the gradient to the left of the peak in the DC (blue and red) curves w.r.t. the PC (green and purple) ones in figure 4, points out to the emergence of colour coherence dynamics. This transition to coherence can be further observed in figure 10 of appendix B.

Yukawa collision rate. We now present in table 2 the corresponding results obtained using the multiple scattering formalism with a Yukawa parton-medium interaction model described in section 3.2.2 for 266 sets of parameters within the ranges: $E \in [50, 1000]$ GeV, $L \in [2, 10]$ fm, $\mu \in [0.7, 1.4]$ GeV, and $n_0 \in [1, 4]$ fm⁻¹. The slightly reduced sample size relative to the HO approach is due to the increased computational time needed to evaluate $F_{\rm med}$ using a Yukawa parton-interaction model. As for the HO approach, we performed both the coherence and no-coherence power-law fits, with the critical energy defined as $E_{\rm c} = n_0 \mu^2 L^2$ due to the $\hat{q} \sim n_0 \mu^2$ matching already discussed at the end of section 3.2.2. We can see that for c = -2, -1.5, -1 the coherent power-law fits are strongly favoured over the no-coherence fits, for which either the fit does not converge or the resulting mass dimensions substantially deviate from 0, indicating the bad quality of the fit. Peaks could not be identified for c = 0, as it was already seen for n = 1 in figure 5, and so no power-law fits were performed. The greatest sensitivity to the dynamics of coherence is found for the c = -1.5 spectra. It is interesting to note that when matching parameters with the HO curves the c = -1.5 Yukawa peak angle overlaps with the c = -1 HO peak angle, for which the most sensitivity to coherence was observed in table 1. This seems to indicate that the

Multiple scatterings: Yukawa							
Scaling of θ_{peak}	c = -2	c = -1.5					
no-coherence	$\sim E^{-0.50} L^{4.4} \mu^{0.45} n_0^{0.36} \ [-4.1]$	failed to converge					
$E \ll E_{\rm c}$	$\sim E^{-0.88} L^{0.34} \mu^{0.77} n_0^{0.47} \ [0.03]$	$\sim E^{-0.92} L^{0.44} \mu^{0.87} n_0^{0.50} \ [0.00]$					
$E \gg E_{\rm c}$	$\sim E^{-0.64} L^{-0.2} \mu^{0.27} n_0^{0.15} [-0.01]$	$\sim E^{-0.69} L^{-0.10} \mu^{0.38} n_0^{0.21} \ [0.00]$					
Scaling of θ_{peak}	c = -1	c = 0					
no-coherence	$\sim E^{-0.30} L^{3.7} \mu^{0.27} n_0^{0.31} \ [-3.39]$	peaks absent					
$E \ll E_{\rm c}$	$\sim E^{-0.97} L^{0.47} \mu^{0.93} n_0^{0.52} \ [0.01]$	peaks absent					
$E \gg E_{\rm c}$	$\sim E^{-0.73} L^{-0.01} \mu^{0.46} n_0^{0.24} \ [-0.01]$	peaks absent					

Table 2. Scaling of the peak position of the $dP^{(2)}/d\theta$ distribution in (4.1) with c = -2, -1.5, -1, 0 computed through the multiple scattering approach with a Yukawa interaction model (see section 3.2.2). The critical energy is given by $E_c = n_0 \mu^2 L^2$. In square brackets we show the mass dimension of each fit. For c = 0, $dP^{(n)}/d\theta$ with n = 1, 2 does not peak for $\theta \leq 1$, see figure 5. For each fit in which the peak angle power law has a deviation of the mass dimension from zero smaller than 1, the errors on the power of the parameters are smaller or equal to ± 0.01 .

Single scattering (GLV)							
Scaling of θ_{peak}	c = -2	c = -1.5					
no-coherence	failed to converge	$\sim E^{-0.54} L^{-0.50} \mu^{0.07} n_0^{0.05} \ [0.10]$					
$E \ll E_{\rm c}$	failed to converge	$\sim E^{-0.56} L^{-0.50} \mu^{0.07} n_0^{0.08} \ [0.10]$					
$E \gg E_{\rm c}$	failed to converge	$\sim E^{-0.51} L^{-0.52} \mu^{0.06} n_0^{0.01} \ [0.06]$					
Scaling of θ_{peak}	c = -1	c = 0					
no-coherence	$\sim E^{-0.57} L^{-0.37} \mu^{0.20} n_0^{0.03} [0.00]$	$\sim E^{-0.55} L^{-0.40} \mu^{0.17} n_0^{-0.01} [0.01]$					
$E \ll E_{\rm c}$	$\sim E^{-0.62} L^{-0.37} \mu^{0.24} n_0^{0.00} \ [0.01]$	$\sim E^{-0.60} L^{-0.34} \mu^{0.25} n_0^{-0.01} [0.02]$					
$E \gg E_{\rm c}$	$\sim E^{-0.49} L^{-0.53} \mu^{0.03} n_0^{0.00} \ [0.00]$	$\sim E^{-0.48} L^{-0.55} \mu^{0.014} n_0^{0.01} [0.06]$					

Table 3. Scaling of the peak position of the $dP^{(2)}/d\theta$ distribution in (4.1) for c = -2, -1.5, -1, 0 evaluated through the single scattering (GLV) approach (see section 3.3). The critical energy is $E_c = \mu^2 n_0 L^2$. In square brackets we show the mass dimension of each fit. When c = -2, $dP^{(2)}/d\theta$ does not present a single crisp peak. The errors on the power of the parameters are smaller or equal to ± 0.02 .

angular location of the region of the EEC spectrum sensitive to colour coherence is nearly model independent. Also, as for the HO approach, the scaling parameter with the greatest sensitivity to the dynamics of coherence is the medium length.

4.2.2 The single scattering approach (GLV)

The results of the power-law fits to the peak position of the $dP^{(2)}/d\theta$ distribution computed within the single scattering (GLV) framework described in section 3.3 are shown in table 3. We have made use of 146 sets of parameters within the following ranges: $E \in [50, 1000]$ GeV, $L \in [2, 10]$ fm, $\mu \in [0.7, 1.4]$ GeV, and $n_0 \in [1, 4]$ fm⁻¹. The reduced sample size relative to the multiple scattering approaches is due to two main factors: the increase in the computational time needed to obtain $F_{\rm med}$ with respect to the multiple scattering approaches, and the reduction of the available parameter space due to the unitarity issues inherent to the GLV formalism highlighted in section 3.3 (all sets containing points yielding $F_{\rm med} < -1$ were discarded). Even though the angular scale θ_c does not appear naturally in the formula for $F_{\rm med}$ in (3.40), we still expect the coherence transition to occur at the same place as for the Yukawa collision rate model in the multiple scattering approach: $E_c = n_0 \mu^2 L^2$. We observe that the peak position appears slightly sensitive to coherence for c = -1.5, -1, 0, but can also be reasonably well described by the no-coherence ansatz. To further differentiate the quality of the coherence and no-coherence fits, we performed a reduced- χ^2 analysis for the fits. The standard variance on each peak position was estimated from the convergence of our numerical analysis. The reduced- χ^2 test does favoured the coherence fit by a factor of 5.

When c = -2, $dP^{(2)}/d\theta$ does not present a consistent single crisp peak due to the more complex small angle tail of the in-medium enhancement in the EEC distribution. This tail is visible in figure 3 where the transition at small angles from agreeing with the vacuum result to having a significant medium enhancement is very slow for the GLV curve. As already mentioned at the end of subsection 3.3, this behaviour is a direct consequence of the phases in (3.41) all being different, as opposed to the multiple scattering cases where all the phases appearing in (3.28) are the same. Similarly, the exponential factors in the *n*-point functions in the multiple scattering case responsible for the coherence transition turn into polynomial for the single scattering case, thus leading to a less pronounced change of regime. Additionally, one can also notice that the peak position is not sensitive to n_0 . This agrees with our expectations since in the single scattering approach n_0 only appears as a normalisation parameter in F_{med} (see (3.40)).

4.3 Visualising coherence

The key results of our numerical coherence analysis are the power-law scalings presented in the previous section and summarised in tables 1, 2, and 3. However, since visualising these scaling laws might be hard, we present in this subsection projections onto particular slices of the parameter space. We choose to isolate the energy dependence of the position of the peak and thus, for each of the jet quenching formalisms, we fix the medium parameters and present the position of the peak angle of the $dP^{(2)}/d\theta$ distribution scaled by a variable power of the jet energy E^a as function of the jet energy. Changing the power of the jet energy *a* in the rescaling of the axis allows us to amplify the differences between the two regions, above and below the critical energy, and make the transition visible.

In figure 6 we show the product $\theta_{\text{peak}} E^a$ for several values of a and with θ_{peak} being the position of the peak angle of the $dP^{(2)}/d\theta$ distribution for c = -1 evaluated through the multiple scattering HO approach. The blue (red) lines are the power laws of the peak angle in the $E \ll E_c$ DC region ($E \gg E_c$ PC region), where $E_c = \hat{q}L^2$, previously presented in table 1, projected for the fixed values of L and \hat{q} indicated in the figure. In the top left panel, where we simply show θ_{peak} as a function of the jet energy, one can already see that the blue line presents a steeper slope than the red one, indicating that $\theta_{\text{peak}}^{\text{DC}}$ and $\theta_{\text{peak}}^{\text{PC}}$ scale



Figure 6. Peak angle θ_{peak} of the $dP^{(2)}/d\theta$ with c = -1 computed within the multiple scattering HO approach with $\hat{q} = 1.5 \text{ GeV}^2/\text{fm}$ and L = 5 fm multiplied by a variable power of the jet energy E^a , where the value of a is indicated in each subplot. The blue (red) solid lines correspond to the coherent fits described at the beginning of section 4.1 for sets in the $E \ll E_c = \hat{q}L^2$ decoherent $(E \gg E_c \text{ partially coherent})$ region. The black dashed lines correspond to the no-coherence fits.

differently with the energy, which is a signature coherence transition in medium-induced radiation. This becomes more evident when increasing the value of the power of the energy, a, since the slope of $\theta_{\text{peak}}E^a$ for the sets below the critical energy E_c clearly changes its sign at a different value of a than that of the sets above E_c , and thus the no-coherence fit (black dashed) is unable to reproduce the energy dependence of θ_{peak} . The dependence on the critical energy, which coincides with the condition $\theta_{\rm L} = \theta_c$, undoubtedly indicates the emergence of a new relevant angular scale. We note that in [27] a plot of $\theta_{\text{onset}}/\theta_{\text{peak}}$ was presented to illustrate the coherence transition. As it was found that $\theta_{\text{onset}} \sim E^{-0.5}$ both for the decoherent and partially coherent regions, this figure is equivalent to the top right hand panel in figure 6 when reflected over the x-axis.



Figure 7. Peak angle θ_{peak} of the $dP^{(2)}/d\theta$ with c = -1.5 computed within the multiple scattering Yukawa approach with $n_0 = 2.5 \text{ fm}^{-1}$, $\mu = 1 \text{ GeV}$, and L = 5 fm multiplied by a variable power of the jet energy E^a , where the value of a is indicated in each subplot. The blue (red) solid lines correspond to the coherent fits described at the beginning of section 4.1 for sets in the $E \ll E_c = n_0 \mu^2 L^2$ decoherent ($E \gg E_c$ partially coherent) region. The black dashed lines correspond to the nocoherence fits.

The equivalent results for the multiple scattering formalism with a Yukawa partonmedium interaction model are presented in figure 7. In this case, θ_{peak} is the position of the $dP^{(2)}/d\theta$ distribution with c = -1.5, since for this jet quenching approach this was the value of c that yielded the largest sensitivity to the colour coherence dynamics (see section 4.2.1). By varying the value of a, we clearly observe that θ_{peak} depends on the jet energy in a different way for the data sets below and above the critical energy $E_c = n_0 \mu^2 L^2$. It is worth keeping in mind that, as in the previous figure, the fits shown in red (blue) were performed including all data sets provided $E \gg E_c$ ($E \ll E_c$), not only the ones shown in the figure, and thus do not always seem to be the best fit to the points on each plot. We can also clearly observe that the no-coherence fits (black dashed lines) do not properly describe the energy dependence of θ_{peak} .



Figure 8. Peak angle θ_{peak} of the $dP^{(2)}/d\theta$ with c = -1 computed within the single scattering (GLV) approach with $n_0 = 2.5 \text{ fm}^{-1}$, $\mu = 1 \text{ GeV}$, and L = 5 fm multiplied by a variable power of the jet energy E^a , where the value of a is indicated in each subplot. The blue (red) solid lines correspond to the coherent fits described at the beginning of section 4.1 for sets in the $E \ll E_c = n_0 \mu^2 L^2$ decoherent ($E \gg E_c$ partially coherent) region. The black dashed lines correspond to the no-coherence fits.

Finally, we present in figure 8 the equivalent results computed within the single scattering (GLV) approach. We see that the dependence on coherence in this framework is relatively weak when compared to the previous multiple scattering approaches. Indeed, although the top right and center left panels seem to present a clear transition to coherent dynamics, it is still possible within the current precision of our numerical results to reasonably describe all the data sets across all energies with the non-coherent fit (black dashed lines) summarised in table 3. It is also notable that the apparent coherent transition is smoother and takes place over a wider range of energies than those in figures 6 and 7, as expected. Varying the value of E_c to account for this effect did not improve the quality of the fits for the DC and PC scaling laws presented in section 4.2.2.

5 Discussion

This paper is focused on semi-analytic computations of the EEC distribution measured on a massless quark-initiated jet which propagates through a static QCD medium of finite size L. For the extension to the massive case, see [104]. Our results can be understood as LO+NLL accurate in vacuum physics, and LO in α_s for in-medium splittings, within the jet quenching formalisms considered. From section 3.2 onward, the interactions with the medium are always considered in the high-energy approximation, where the momentum transfer in each scattering is purely transverse and thus no energy (longitudinal momentum) is exchanged. Corrections to this approach maximally entering at order $\mathcal{O}(\bar{\mu}_s^2/Q^2)$.¹¹ This separation between longitudinal and transverse dynamics allows us to have a different power counting for splittings, which we consider to LO only, and interactions with the medium, which are further enhanced by the medium density and are resummed to all orders in the multilpe scattering case. Due to the novelty of the EEC observable and the subtlety of the power counting in its in-medium calculation, we further discuss now both the implications of working at fixed coupling and the parametric size of the subleading corrections.

The transverse nature of the scatterings with the medium implies that there are no corrections to the energy weighting entering at LO in the medium-induced splittings. We quoted in (3.9) an error $\mathcal{O}(\bar{\mu}_s/Q)$ due to complete momentum conservation but, unless collisional energy loss is included, such terms would only appear when additional splittings are considered and thus are higher-order in the medium splittings, making them of order $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s \bar{\mu}_s/Q)$.

By restricting our calculation to LO in the medium splittings we induce an error maximally of the order $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_{\rm s}(\theta Q) \ln \theta \,\bar{\mu}_{\rm s}/Q)$ from the expansion of $F_{\rm med}^{(ij)} d\hat{\sigma}^{(ij)}$, as explained in the derivation of eq. (3.10). This can, in principle, be systematically improved by computing $F_{\text{med}}^{(ij)} d\hat{\sigma}^{(ij)}$ at NLO, which would entail computing $F_{\text{med}}^{(q_1q_2)} d\hat{\sigma}^{(q_1q_2)}$ and $F_{\text{med}}^{(g_1g_2)} d\hat{\sigma}^{(g_1g_2)}$ at LO, where an additional splitting is needed to create the extra quark or gluon. Additionally, one must also compute $F_{\text{med}}^{(qg)} d\hat{\sigma}^{(qg)}$ at NLO involving diagrams where the initial pair can emit an extra gluon (real contributions) but also diagrams with loops (virtual contributions). Overall, these NLO contributions are usually attributed to causing energy loss in typical heavy-ion jet substructure observables (such as jet shapes or groomed observables), when computed in the soft limit, because the additional wide-angle medium-induced soft parton can be 'lost' outside the jet cone. Such observables are exclusive and, in vacuum, the lost gluon is associated with an additional Sudakov double (or sometimes single) soft logarithm potentially providing a leading effect, which could be made worse in presence of the medium. However, this is not the case for energy correlator observables, since the EEC is inclusive and so the parton is not lost, modifying instead the structure of the correlations at an angle determined by its kinematics. Since the energy weighting in the EEC removes any essential soft divergences and thus logarithms, in order to find these additional correlations the diagrams must be computed beyond the soft limit $(z \rightarrow 0)$ for the jet partons. Taken on its own, the soft limit of the diagrams is further suppressed,

¹¹The relevant scale here is the typical momentum transferred per scattering given by the Debye mass, which is of the same order or less than $\bar{\mu}_s$.

maximally scaling as $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_{\rm s}(\theta Q) \ln \theta \ \bar{\mu}_{\rm s}/Q \sqrt{\Lambda_{\rm QCD}/Q})$. In contrast to typical heavy-ion jet substructure observables, the collinear limit of these NLO diagrams (at finite z) could be used to find the leading contribution of the NLO correction to small angle correlations, such as those studied in this paper.

Nevertheless, it is well known that a complete calculation of these NLO contributions is out of reach within the formalisms used in this manuscript. Calculations involving multiple medium splittings are available only under the assumption that emissions occur independently without interference [105-107], which has been argued to be a good approximation only in the case of very soft gluon emissions and thus would not constitute a leading correction in the calculation of the EEC, as explained above. Recent developments in the calculations of multiple splittings with finite energy fraction have shown the increasing difficulty to perform a full calculation even for less differential observables where the angular dependence is not kept [108, 109].

The calculation of $F_{\rm med}$ at LO in the medium splittings can still be improved in several ways either by relaxing some of the approximations entering the jet quenching models or calculating correction terms. In the multiple scattering formalism explained in section 3.2 the calculation of $F_{\rm med}$ was performed in a semi-hard approximation at leading colour which can be systematically improved by: implementing finite $N_{\rm c}$ results, which are known within the HO approximation [49] and could be easily extended to include the Yukawa case too with a slight increase in the computational cost, or computing corrections to the straight-line approximation in the in-medium propagators in eq. (3.17) which would allow us to improve the handling of the transverse momentum broadening of the daughter particles. This correction goes as $\mathcal{O}(\bar{\mu}_s/zQ)$ and so has the potential to be large for $z < \bar{\mu}_s/Q$. Consequently, this correction will likely be one of the most important to include in the future.

Regarding the single scattering framework, a recursive method to systematically increase the number of in-medium scatterings in the calculation of F_{med} is known [95, 103]. We note that the resulting expressions are cumbersome, and will thus pose computational challenges in the numerical evaluation of the EEC beyond the single scattering limit implemented in this manuscript. In any case, we expect that gradually increasing the number of scatterings will result into a higher sensitivity to colour coherence.

The same calculation performed here can also be carried out for in-medium gluon initiated jets, albeit with some extra technical difficulties. In this case, two different channels enter at the leading order, $g \to q\bar{q}$ and $g \to gg$. For the multiple scattering case, $F_{\rm med}$ has been calculated in the semi-hard approach within the HO approximation in [49], with the $g \to gg$ channel result being slightly more difficult and requiring some additional computational time. For the single scattering case $F_{\rm med}$ can be straightforwardly derived from the formulas for splittings in the first opacity expansion in [57]. In all cases we expect the result to present the same features as for the quark-initiated jets since formation times and colour coherence arguments still apply.

Although the static brick model of the QGP employed in this manuscript is too simple to be compared with realistic scenarios, our analysis is of vital importance to understand how particular features of the calculation of the modification of in-medium splittings are imprinted in the EEC. In order to understand how this observable would behave in an actual experimental environment going beyond this simplified static scenario is of the utmost importance. This can be done in two steps: first, the calculation of F_{med} can be performed for an evolving medium, with the local parameters varying according to a simple expansion model or extracted from a hydrodynamic simulation, second, evaluations of F_{med} performed under different dynamic profiles can be combined in the evaluation of the correlator to mimic the different trajectories along the changing underlying event contributing to a possible measurement.

Finally, we note that it would be also extremely interesting to perform a comprehensive analysis on the in-medium EEC within a full parton shower Monte Carlo implementation, which will allow us also to study the resilience of the correlator to medium response. This will be done in a separate publication.

6 Conclusions

In this paper we have presented a thorough analysis of how correlators of energy flow operators can be applied to jet substructure studies in heavy-ion collisions. Expanding on the original proposal in [27], we have performed a detailed derivation of the two-point correlator (EEC) of a heavy-ion jet including medium-induced radiation effects on top of the vacuum structure, which is here known to high (NLL) accuracy. We have considered different jet quenching frameworks, both with and without multiple scattering resummation to test the model dependence of our results.

The advantages of using energy correlators in addition to other jet substructure observables are already well documented in the context of p-p collisions. It is thus natural to extend these studies to the case of heavy-ion collisions, even more so when considering some of their useful properties from the perspective of a heavy-ion environment. In particular, the fact that for energy correlators in the vacuum the presence of any new scales is reflected in different angular regions seems tailor made for addressing multi-scale systems, such as heavy-ion collisions. In the context of jet quenching theory, colour coherence effects have been argued during the last decade to play an important role in our understanding of jet-medium interactions due to the emergence of a resolution scale which determines if the inner jet structure affects the quenching. This discussion has often been framed in terms of the angular separation between jet constituents where the resolution scale turns into a critical angle below which the medium is not sensitive to jet substructure. It is then natural to formulate the emergence of colour coherence in jet quenching in terms of energy correlators.

Our analysis shows that the EEC can be used to identify the dynamics of colour coherence, with a consistent picture emerging from all the jet quenching formalisms considered. We found that the angular region of the EEC most sensitive to coherence is broadly model independent, appearing at the moderately small angle region of the medium enhancement for all the approaches. We also showed that the signatures of coherence dynamics are weaker in the single scattering GLV framework than in the multiple scattering approaches. This outcome agrees with our expectations, since the appearance of coherence phenomena is due to the loss of colour correlations induced by colour exchanges between the jet and the medium, and thus its effects are enhanced in a multiple scattering setting. It is remarkable how the EEC provides an observable for heavy-ion collisions which is expected to be largely insensitive to soft degrees of freedom (and can easily be extended to higher powers of the energy weighting to make it even less sensitive), directly reflects the physical phenomena and important scales of the microscopic dynamics, and whose vacuum baseline is well understood and calculable to a high degree of accuracy. As we eagerly anticipate experimental measurements at both RHIC and LHC in the near future, we envisage an exciting opportunity for direct comparisons with theoretical calculations. However, we recognise the importance of implementing first a more realistic model for the medium and jet-medium interactions, which should encompass crucial aspects such as the event geometry, hydrodynamical evolution, and medium response, as outlined at the end of section 5.

Our work is meant to open the door for a rich program of theoretical and experimental studies of jet substructure in heavy-ion collisions in terms of energy correlators. We would like to encourage our colleagues to consider building upon this new approach. To this end, we have provided a detailed discussion on how to compute the EEC of an in-medium massless jet, describing the accuracy and limitations of our calculation and the different directions in which it can be systematically improved.

Acknowledgments

We thank Liliana Apolinário and Raghav Kunnawalkam Elayavalli for useful discussions. This work is supported in part by the GLUODYNAMICS project funded by the "P2IO LabEx (ANR-10-LABX-0038)" in the framework "Investissements d'Avenir" (ANR-11-IDEX-0003-01) managed by the Agence Nationale de la Recherche (ANR), France. This work is also supported by European Research Council project ERC-2018-ADG-835105 YoctoLHC; by Maria de Maetzu excellence program under project CEX2020-001035-M; by Spanish Research State Agency under project PID2020-119632GB-I00; and by Xunta de Galicia (Centro singular de investigación de Galicia accreditation 2019-2022), by European Union ERDF and by OE - Portugal, Fundacão para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT) under projects EXPL/FIS-PAR/0905/2021. C.A. has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under the Marie Sklodowska-Curie grant agreement No 893021 (JQ4LHC). I.M. is supported by start-up funds from Yale University.

A Vacuum resummation and anomalous dimensions

The following discussion draws on results originally presented in [38, 80, 85, 110]. The primary goal of this appendix is to present the expressions needed to evaluate the vacuum contribution in eq. (3.10). These are written in a condensed form in appendix A.3. Concurrently, we aim to present the vacuum resummation via the celestial OPE in a manner accessible to a reader with no prior knowledge of conformal field theories. This style of presentation is largely missing from the literature and we hope will help bridge the gap between the heavy-ion and the energy correlator communities.

A.1 Recap of the OPE

We first review the celestial OPE with specific focus on its application to the energy flow operator $\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_1)$ used in this paper. Several of the results we present here hold more generally than the context in which we shall derive them. We will assume that we can compute the $\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_1)$ on a QCD process. Firstly, let us stress that $\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_1)$ is a light-ray operator, which is obtained by integrating a "usual" local QFT operator (in this case the energy-momentum tensor) along a light-cone:

$$\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_1) = \lim_{r \to \infty} \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}t \, r^2 n_1^i \, T_{0i}(t, r\vec{n}_1) = \frac{1}{4} \lim_{x_+ \to \infty} \int_{-\infty}^\infty \mathrm{d}x_- \, x_+^2 \, T_{\mu\nu}(x_+ n_1 + x_- \bar{n}_1) \bar{n}_1^{\mu} \bar{n}_1^{\nu} \,. \tag{A.1}$$

Here $n_1^{\mu} = (1, \vec{n}_1)$ and $\bar{n}_1^{\mu} = (1, -\vec{n}_1)$. $x^- = x \cdot n_1/2$, and $x^+ = x \cdot \bar{n}_1/2$ are coordinates along the *n* light-cone. Consequently, $\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_1)$ does not share the same transformation properties under the Lorentz group as a local QFT operator.

In the small angle limit $(\vec{n}_1 \cdot \vec{n}_2 \to 1)$ the composite operator $\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_1)\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_2)$ diverges, since $d\sigma_{ij}/d\vec{n}_i d\vec{n}_j$ diverges when $\vec{n}_i \cdot \vec{n}_j \to 1$. Thus, we expect to find a Laurent series expansion for the small angle limit, schematically given by

$$\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_1)\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_2) = \sum_i \frac{\alpha_s}{\pi} C_i \ (1 - \vec{n}_1 \cdot \vec{n}_2)^{\kappa_i} \mathbb{O}_i(\vec{n}_2) + (1 - \vec{n}_1 \cdot \vec{n}_2)^0, \tag{A.2}$$

where $\mathbb{O}_i(\vec{n}_2)$ is a QCD light-ray operator with the same mass dimension as $\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_1)\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_2)$. The coefficients C_i are independent of $\vec{n}_1 \cdot \vec{n}_2$ and are real process-dependent constants when spin averaged. Necessarily, for terms where $C_i \sim 1$, we must have that $\kappa_i = -1 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$ in order to recreate the universal LO $d\theta^2/\theta^2$ collinear divergences of the QCD quark/gluon splitting functions. It is required that the sum is over light-ray operators, so that the left hand side and right hand side have the same causal structure, and therefore transformations, under the Lorentz group.

A general light-ray operator (with integer spin J) can be defined from a local QFT operator, $\mathcal{O}_i^{\mu_1,\ldots,\mu_J}$, by

$$\mathbb{O}_{i}^{[J]}(\vec{n}) = \lim_{r \to \infty} r^{\Delta_{i} - J} \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}t \quad n_{\mu_{1}} \dots n_{\mu_{J}} \mathcal{O}_{i}^{\mu_{1}, \dots, \mu_{J}}(t, r\vec{n}),
= \frac{1}{4} \lim_{x_{+} \to \infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}x_{-} \quad x_{+}^{\Delta_{i} - J} \quad n_{\mu_{1}} \dots n_{\mu_{J}} \mathcal{O}_{i}^{\mu_{1}, \dots, \mu_{J}}(x_{+}n + x_{-}\bar{n}),$$
(A.3)

where Δ_i is the mass dimension of $\mathcal{O}_i^{\mu_1,\dots,\mu_J}$. From this definition, simple power counting gives that an operator $\mathbb{O}^{[J]}$ has a mass dimension J - 1. It is therefore the spin-3 QCD light-ray operators which will appear in eq. (A.2). We will provide the relevant QCD operators, $\mathcal{O}^{\mu_1,\mu_2,\mu_3}$, in the following subsection.

We have pinned down that

$$\sum_{i} \mathbb{O}_i(\vec{n}_2) \to \sum_{i} \mathbb{O}_i^{[3]}(\vec{n}_2) \,,$$

in our small angle expansion. In order to compute $\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_1)\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_2)$ we must also fix C_i and κ_i . C_i must be found by performing a fixed order matching, however, we can find more insight into the form of κ_i by considering a general boost in the direction \vec{n}_2 . We define the boost so that

$$\Lambda n_2 = \lambda_2 n_2, \qquad \Lambda \bar{n}_2 = \lambda_2^{-1} \bar{n}_2, \qquad \Lambda n_1 = \lambda_1 n_1'.$$
(A.4)

Upon applying this boost to eq. (A.2), assuming a scaleless theory so the operators $\mathcal{O}_i^{\mu_1,\ldots,\mu_J}$ and $T^{\mu\nu}$ are invariant under reparameterisations, one finds that

$$\Lambda: \mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_1)\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_2) \mapsto \mathcal{E}(\Lambda \vec{n}_1)\mathcal{E}(\Lambda \vec{n}_2) = \lambda_1^{-3}\lambda_2^{-3}\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_1)\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_2'), \qquad (A.5)$$

and that

$$\Lambda: (1 - \vec{n_1} \cdot \vec{n_2})^{\kappa_i} \mathbb{O}_i(\vec{n_2}) \mapsto (\Lambda n_1 \cdot \Lambda n_2)^{\kappa_i} \mathbb{O}_i(\Lambda \vec{n_2}) = \lambda_1^{\kappa_i} \lambda_2^{\kappa_i - \Delta_i + 1} (n_1' \cdot n_2)^{\kappa_i} \mathbb{O}_i(\vec{n_2}).$$
(A.6)

In the small angle limit of our expansion $\lambda_1 \to \lambda_2$ and so for consistency $2\kappa_i = -7 + \Delta_i$. The twist of a local operator is given by $\tau_i = \Delta_i - J$ and so we can rewrite our small angle expansion as a sum over operators of a given twist

$$\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_1)\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_2) = \sum_i \frac{\alpha_s}{\pi} C_i \, \left(1 - \vec{n}_1 \cdot \vec{n}_2\right)^{\frac{\tau_i - 4}{2}} \mathbb{O}_i^{[3]}(\vec{n}_2) + \left(1 - \vec{n}_1 \cdot \vec{n}_2\right)^0. \tag{A.7}$$

As massless QCD is scaleless prior to renormalisation, this result will hold with bare operators or when one sets QCD $\beta = 0$. Indeed, we can readily see that the leading twist contribution, $\kappa_i = (2 - 4)/2 = -1$, recreates the expected LO QCD divergences and that higher twist contributions will be sub-leading, as also expected.

The ansatz in eq. (A.7) is what is referred to as the light-ray OPE for the energy flow operators. The derivation can be performed more generally by analysing the conformal symmetries of the operators. Upon doing so, one finds that for scaleless (conformal) theories the renormalisation of light-ray operators has the effect of modifying their twist by a scaleless anomalous dimension: $\tau_i = 2 + \gamma_i(J, \alpha_s)$ where γ_i is the anomalous dimension for the renormalisation of the operator $\mathcal{O}_i^{\mu_1,\ldots,\mu_J}$ [38]. This result therefore also holds at fixed QCD coupling. With a running coupling, the renormalisation of $\mathbb{O}_i^{[3]}(\vec{n}_2)$ will introduce a logarithmic dependence on the scale $\mu \sim n_1 \cdot n_2 Q$. These terms can be resummed at a given logarithmic accuracy using renormalisation group flow equations and have the effect of complicating the $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$ terms in κ_i if one expands around a fixed point in the running coupling. We will not review the derivation of the conformal result, instead in the following section we will review the more relevant QCD resummation at NLL accuracy.

A.2 Spin-3 twist-2 operators and anomalous dimensions

In QCD, the twist-2 operators for quarks and gluons are given by:

$$\mathcal{O}_{q}^{\mu_{1}...\mu_{J}} = \frac{1}{2^{J}} \bar{\psi} \gamma^{\mu_{1}} (iD^{\mu_{2}}) \dots (iD^{\mu_{J}}) \psi , \qquad (A.8)$$

$$\mathcal{O}_{g}^{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{J}} = -\frac{1}{2^{J}} F_{c}^{i\mu_{1}}(iD^{\mu_{2}})\dots(iD^{\mu_{J-1}}) F_{c}^{i\mu_{J}}, \qquad (A.9)$$

$$\mathcal{O}_{\tilde{g},\lambda}^{\mu_1\dots\mu_J} = -\frac{1}{2^J} F_c^{i\mu_1}(iD^{\mu_2})\dots(iD^{\mu_{J-1}}) F_c^{j\mu_J} \varepsilon_{\lambda,i} \varepsilon_{\lambda,j} \,. \tag{A.10}$$

In [85] it was shown by explicit tree-level Feynman computation that

$$\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_{1}) \mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_{2}) = - \frac{\alpha_{s}}{8\pi^{2}} \frac{1}{2(n_{1} \cdot n_{2})} \left\{ \left[(\gamma_{qq}(2) - \gamma_{qq}(3)) + (\gamma_{gq}(2) - \gamma_{gq}(3)) \right] \mathbb{O}_{q}^{[3]}(\vec{n}_{2}) \right. \\ \left. + \left[(\gamma_{gg}(2) - \gamma_{gg}(3)) + 2n_{f}(\gamma_{qg}(2) - \gamma_{qg}(3)) \right] \mathbb{O}_{g}^{[3]}(\vec{n}_{2}) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{2} \left[(\gamma_{g\tilde{g}}(2) - \gamma_{g\tilde{g}}(3)) + 2n_{f}(\gamma_{q\tilde{g}}(2) - \gamma_{q\tilde{g}}(3)) \right] \left(e^{2i\phi_{S}} \mathbb{O}_{\tilde{g},-}^{[3]}(\vec{n}_{2}) + e^{-2i\phi_{S}} \mathbb{O}_{\tilde{g},+}^{[3]}(\vec{n}_{2}) \right) \right\} \\ \left. + \mathcal{O}((n_{1} \cdot n_{2})^{0}) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_{s}^{2}), \right.$$
(A.11)

from which we can read off C_i . Here

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{qq}(J) &= C_F \left(4 \left(\psi^{(0)}(J+1) + \gamma_E \right) - \frac{2}{J(J+1)} - 3 \right), \qquad \gamma_{qg}(J) = -T_F \frac{2(J^2 + J + 2)}{J(J+1)(J+2)}, \\ \gamma_{gq}(J) &= -C_F \frac{2(J^2 + J + 2)}{(J-1)J(J+1)}, \\ \gamma_{gg}(J) &= 4C_A \left(\psi^{(0)}(J+1) + \gamma_E - \frac{1}{(J-1)J} - \frac{1}{(J+1)(J+2)} \right) - \beta_0, \\ \gamma_{q\tilde{g}}(J) &= -T_F \frac{8}{(J+1)(J+2)}, \qquad \gamma_{g\tilde{g}}(J) = C_A \left(\frac{8}{(J+1)(J+2)} + 3 \right) - \beta_0, \end{split}$$
(A.12)

where $\psi^{(0)}(z) = \Gamma'(z)/\Gamma(z)$ is the digamma function, and $\beta_0 = 11C_A/3 - 4n_f T_F/3$ is the one-loop QCD beta function. Note that for readability we have omitted the commonly used (0) superscript on each γ_{ab} . These anomalous dimensions are computed from the Mellin moments of the regularised collinear splitting functions (i.e. using the plus prescription):

$$\frac{\alpha_{\rm s}}{4\pi}\gamma_{ab}(J) = -2\int_0^1 dz \ z^{J-1} P_{a\leftarrow b}(z) \,. \tag{A.13}$$

As previously discussed, at fixed coupling, τ_i is determined by the twist and anomalous dimension of the relevant QCD operators. For the twist-2 operators listed¹²

$$\begin{aligned} \tau_{q'}(J) &= 2 + \frac{\alpha_{\rm s}}{8\pi} \left(\gamma_{gg}(J) + \gamma_{qq}(J) - A \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\alpha_s^2\right) \,, \\ \tau_{g'}(J) &= 2 + + \frac{\alpha_{\rm s}}{8\pi} \left(\gamma_{gg}(J) + \gamma_{qq}(J) + A \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\alpha_s^2\right) \,, \\ \tau_{\tilde{g},\lambda}(J) &= 2 + \frac{\alpha_{\rm s}}{4\pi} (\gamma_{g\tilde{g}}(J) + 2n_f \gamma_{q\tilde{g}}(J)) + \mathcal{O}\left(\alpha_s^2\right) \,, \\ \text{where} \quad A &= \sqrt{(\gamma_{gg}(J) - \gamma_{qq}(J))^2 + 8n_f \gamma_{gq}(J) \gamma_{qg}(J)} \,. \end{aligned}$$
(A.14)

In this paper we focus on a quark jet propagating through a medium. In eq. (3.10) the twist-2 spin-3 quark anomalous dimension, $\gamma(3)$, appears: this is given by $\gamma(3) = \tau_q(3) - 2$.

$$\mathbb{O}_{q'}^{[J]} = \mathbb{O}_{q}^{[J]} - \frac{2\gamma_{gq}(J)}{\gamma_{gg}(J) + \gamma_{qq}(J) + A} \mathbb{O}_{g}^{[J]}, \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbb{O}_{g'}^{[J]} = \mathbb{O}_{g}^{[J]} - \frac{\gamma_{gg}(J) + \gamma_{qq}(J) - A}{2\gamma_{gq}(J)} \mathbb{O}_{q}^{[J]}.$$

 $^{^{12}}$ The unpolarised QCD operators mix with each other (see the forthcoming discussion), so the provided anomalous dimensions are for the diagonalised operators

When one includes the running coupling, the $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$ corrections to $\tau_i(3)$ can be computed from the renormalisation of $\mathbb{O}_i^{[3]}$, and solving the renormalisation group equations within a given logarithmic accuracy. This can be done as follows. As per the usual renormalisation group flow, schematically a renormalised operator/parameter $O(\mu)$ defined at a given scale, μ , obeys a group flow equation:

$$\mu^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}O}{\mathrm{d}\mu^2} = -\gamma_O O \,, \tag{A.15}$$

where γ_O is the anomalous dimension of O. γ_O is readily computed in dimensional regularisation at one-loop as the coefficient to the ϵ^{-1} pole in the counter term δ_O for which $O - \delta_O O$ is UV finite. When operators O_1 and O_2 share the same quantum numbers, such that divergences in Green functions of O_1 are cancelled by $\delta_{O_1,O_1}O_1 + \delta_{O_1,O_2}O_2$ (and vice versa for O_2), then evolution equation must be extended as a matrix equation:

$$\mu^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}\vec{O}}{\mathrm{d}\mu^2} = -\hat{\gamma}_{\vec{O}}\vec{O}\,,\tag{A.16}$$

where $\vec{O} = (O_1, O_2)^{\mathrm{T}}$ and $\hat{\gamma}_{\vec{O}}^{ij} = \delta_{O_i, O_j} \epsilon|_{\epsilon \to 0}$. For convenience, we define a vector of twist-2 QCD operators as

$$\mathcal{O}^{\mu_1\dots\mu_J} = (\mathcal{O}_q^{\mu_1\dots\mu_J}, \mathcal{O}_g^{\mu_1\dots\mu_J}, \mathcal{O}_{\tilde{g},\lambda}^{\mu_1\dots\mu_J})^{\mathrm{T}}.$$

By computing at one-loop the Green functions $G_{\lambda,\lambda'}^{\mu_1...\mu_J}(k,\epsilon) = \langle k,\lambda | \mathcal{O}^{\mu_1...\mu_J} | k,\lambda' \rangle$, where k is the momentum of a quark or gluon external line and λ its spin/polarisation, the $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$ anomalous dimensions can be found. One finds the operators obey the renormalisation group equation

$$\mu^{2} \frac{\mathrm{d} \mathcal{O}^{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{J}}}{\mathrm{d}\mu^{2}} = -\frac{\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}(\mu)}{4\pi} \hat{\gamma}(J) \ \mathcal{O}^{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{J}}, \qquad \hat{\gamma}(J) = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{qq}(J), \ 2n_{f}\gamma_{qg}(J), \ 0 \\ \gamma_{qg}(J), \ \gamma_{gg}(J), \ 0 \\ 0, \ 0, \ \gamma_{g\tilde{g}}(J) \end{pmatrix},$$
(A.17)

where we have again factorised the $\alpha_{\rm s}/(4\pi)$ for convenience. As the integrals to form light-ray operators commute with the scale derivative, this also gives the renormalisation of the twist-2 light-ray operators:

$$\mu^{2} \frac{\mathrm{d} \mathbb{O}^{[J]}(\vec{n}_{2};\mu)}{\mathrm{d}\mu^{2}} = -\frac{\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}(\mu)}{4\pi} \hat{\gamma}(J) \mathbb{O}^{[J]}(\vec{n}_{2};\mu) \,. \tag{A.18}$$

At one loop accuracy in the anomalous dimension and β function, i.e. single-logarithmic accuracy in $\alpha_{\rm s}(Q) \ln(Q/\mu)$, this flow equation is solved by

$$\mathbb{O}^{[J]}(\vec{n}_2;\mu) = \left(\frac{\alpha_{\rm s}(Q)}{\alpha_{\rm s}(\mu)}\right)^{\frac{\hat{\gamma}(J)}{\beta_0}} \mathbb{O}^{[J]}(\vec{n}_2;Q) \,. \tag{A.19}$$

We are interested in the 2-point correlator measured on a sample of unpolarised jets initiated by quarks at the hard scale Q. The jet content remains unpolarised but otherwise unconstrained at the scale μ . Hence, the resummed OPE must sum over the contributions of $\mathbb{O}_q^{[3]}(\vec{n}_2;\mu)$ and $\mathbb{O}_g^{[3]}(\vec{n}_2;\mu)$. Thus, at single-logarithmic accuracy, the OPE is given by

$$\langle \mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_{1})\mathcal{E}(\vec{n}_{2}) \rangle = -\frac{\alpha_{\rm s}(\mu)}{8\pi^{2}} \frac{1}{2(n_{1} \cdot n_{2})} \left((\gamma_{qq}(2) - \gamma_{qq}(3) + \gamma_{gq}(2) - \gamma_{gq}(3)) \left[\left(\frac{\alpha_{\rm s}(Q)}{\alpha_{\rm s}(\mu)} \right)^{\frac{\dot{\gamma}(3)}{\beta_{0}}} \right]_{qq} + (2n_{f}(\gamma_{qg}(2) - \gamma_{qg}(3)) + \gamma_{gg}(2) - \gamma_{gg}(3)) \left[\left(\frac{\alpha_{\rm s}(Q)}{\alpha_{\rm s}(\mu)} \right)^{\frac{\dot{\gamma}(3)}{\beta_{0}}} \right]_{gq} \right) \left\langle \mathbb{O}_{q}^{[3]}(\vec{n}_{2}) \right\rangle + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\alpha_{\rm s}(Q)^{2} \ln(Q/\mu)}{(n_{1} \cdot n_{2})} \right) + \mathcal{O}((n_{1} \cdot n_{2})^{0}).$$
(A.20)

A natural scale choice for μ is the average momentum exchange between the two points in correlator which is ~ θQ . At the risk of being overly verbose, we can now write τ_i for QCD at next-to-leading (single) log accuracy in the small angle:

$$(n_1 \cdot n_2)^{\frac{\tau_i - 2}{2}} \mathbb{O}_i^{[3]}(\vec{n}_2; \mu) \mapsto \sum_j \left[(n_1 \cdot n_2)^{-\frac{\hat{\gamma}(J)\ln\left(\alpha_s(n_1 \cdot n_2 Q^2)/\alpha_s(Q^2)\right)}{\beta_0 \ln n_1 \cdot n_2}} \right]_{ij} \mathbb{O}_j^{[3]}(\vec{n}_2; Q).$$
(A.21)

A.3 Summary of $g^{(n)}$ at fixed and running coupling

We summarise here the results of the discussions in this appendix as expressions for $g^{(1)}$, provided the two-point correlator is measured on a quark jet and $d\hat{\sigma}^{\text{vac}}$ is given at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$.

At fixed coupling we have that:

$$g^{(1)} = (A.22)$$

$$\frac{(\gamma_{gg}(3) + \gamma_{qq}(3) + A) \ \theta^{\frac{\alpha_{s}}{8\pi}(\gamma_{gg}(3) + \gamma_{qq}(3) - A) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_{s}^{2})} + 2\gamma_{gq}(3) \ \theta^{\frac{\alpha_{s}}{8\pi}(\gamma_{gg}(3) + \gamma_{qq}(3) + A) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_{s}^{2})}}{2\gamma_{gq}(3) + \gamma_{gg}(3) + \gamma_{qq}(3) + A} + \mathcal{O}(\theta),$$

where A and γ_{ab} where defined in the previous section and are given again below.¹³ With a running coupling, at one-loop and at single logarithmic accuracy,

$$g^{(1)} = \left(\left[\left(\frac{\alpha_{\rm s}(Q)}{\alpha_{\rm s}(\theta Q)} \right)^{\frac{\hat{\gamma}(3)}{\beta_0}} \right]_{qq} + \frac{2n_f(\gamma_{qg}(2) - \gamma_{qg}(3)) + \gamma_{gg}(2) - \gamma_{gg}(3)}{\gamma_{qq}(2) - \gamma_{qq}(3) + \gamma_{gq}(2) - \gamma_{gq}(3)} \left[\left(\frac{\alpha_{\rm s}(Q)}{\alpha_{\rm s}(\theta Q)} \right)^{\frac{\hat{\gamma}(3)}{\beta_0}} \right]_{gq} \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\alpha_{\rm s}(Q)^n \ln(\theta)^{n-1} \big|_{n \ge 1} \right) + \mathcal{O}(\theta) \,, \tag{A.23}$$

¹³The statement in section 3 that $g^{(1)} = \theta^{\gamma(3)}$ should really be read as a matrix relation due to operator mixing. When expanded, this leads to the slightly more complicated result given above. If one imagines that the QCD quark operator did not mix with gluonic operators (i.e. taking the $\gamma_{gq}, \gamma_{qg} \to 0$ limit), then the given result simplifies to $g^{(1)} = \theta^{\frac{\alpha_g}{4\pi}\gamma_{qq}(3)}$.

where

$$\begin{aligned} \left[\left(\frac{\alpha_{\rm s}(Q)}{\alpha_{\rm s}(\theta Q)} \right)^{\frac{\gamma(3)}{\beta_0}} \right]_{qq} &= \frac{1}{2A} \left(\frac{\alpha_{\rm s}(Q)}{\alpha_{\rm s}(\theta Q)} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}(B_+ - A)} \left(A \left(\left(\frac{\alpha_{\rm s}(Q)}{\alpha_{\rm s}(\theta Q)} \right)^A + 1 \right) - B_- \left(\left(\frac{\alpha_{\rm s}(Q)}{\alpha_{\rm s}(\theta Q)} \right)^A - 1 \right) \right), \\ \left[\left(\frac{\alpha_{\rm s}(Q)}{\alpha_{\rm s}(\theta Q)} \right)^{\frac{\gamma(3)}{\beta_0}} \right]_{qq} &= \frac{1}{A} \left(\frac{\alpha_{\rm s}(Q)}{\alpha_{\rm s}(\theta Q)} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}(B_+ - A)} \gamma_{gq}(3) \left(\left(\frac{\alpha_{\rm s}(Q)}{\alpha_{\rm s}(\theta Q)} \right)^A - 1 \right), \\ A &= \sqrt{(\gamma_{gg}(3) - \gamma_{qq}(3))^2 + 8n_f \gamma_{gq}(3)\gamma_{qg}(3)}, \\ B_{\pm} &= \gamma_{gg}(3) \pm \gamma_{qq}(3). \end{aligned}$$
(A.24)

For convenience we here present again:

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{qq}(J) &= C_F \left(4 \left(\psi^{(0)}(J+1) + \gamma_E \right) - \frac{2}{J(J+1)} - 3 \right), \qquad \gamma_{qg}(J) = -T_F \frac{2(J^2 + J + 2)}{J(J+1)(J+2)}, \\ \gamma_{gg}(J) &= 4 C_A \left(\psi^{(0)}(J+1) + \gamma_E - \frac{1}{(J-1)J} - \frac{1}{(J+1)(J+2)} \right) - \beta_0, \\ \gamma_{gq}(J) &= -C_F \frac{2(J^2 + J + 2)}{(J-1)J(J+1)}. \end{split}$$
(A.25)

where $\psi^{(0)}(z) = \Gamma'(z)/\Gamma(z)$ is the digamma function, and $\beta_0 = 11C_A/3 - 4n_f T_F/3$.

At leading-order $g^{(2)} = 1$. Expressions for $g^{(2)}$ beyond fixed order require the incorporation of either track functions or fragmentation functions and will be provided in a subsequent publication.

B Additional figures

In this appendix we present additional figures showing the two-point correlator spectra for the different jet quenching formalisms considered in this manuscript, different sets of parameters, and energy weights.

We first present in figure 9 results on the two-point n = 2 energy correlator, $d\Sigma^{(2)}/d\theta$, for a quark-initiated jet with initial energy E = 100 GeV computed within the three jet quenching formalisms considered in this manuscript. These results for the n = 2 energy weight qualitatively agree with the corresponding n = 1 ones shown in figure 3. We note that in this figure instead of using the NLL vacuum result as done for the n = 1 case, we employ the LO one, which is a good first approximation away from the $\theta \to 0$ divergence. As we discuss in appendix A, including the NLL vacuum for the n = 2 spectrum requires the inclusion of non-perturbative functions (track or fragmentation functions), which is beyond the scope of this paper.

Figure 10 shows results on the two-point n = 1 energy correlator, $d\Sigma^{(1)}/d\theta$, computed within the multiple scattering approach and the harmonic approximation for quark jets with different initial energies and the same values of the medium parameters (\hat{q} and L). As we already discussed in 4, the onset angle of the medium enhancement for a given jet energy E and medium length L is clearly independent of the value of \hat{q} . In subfigure (a), we can



Figure 9. Top: the n = 2 EEC in (3.10) of an E = 100 GeV quark jet evaluated through the multiple scattering HO (green), multiple scattering Yukawa (blue), and single scattering GLV (red) approaches compared to the vacuum LO result (black dashed). Both plots show the same curves, either with (left) or without (right) log scaling on the y-axis. Bottom: same as the top panel for different sets of medium parameters chosen so the amplitude and onset of the medium enhancement qualitatively match among the different models. All curves are normalised by the integrated vacuum result $\Sigma_{\text{vac}}^{(2)}$.

observe that both the vacuum and in-medium correlators artificially turn over at very small angles, due to the presence of the QCD Landau pole. Indeed, the coupling diverges when $\theta = \Lambda_{\rm QCD}/E$, becoming imaginary for $\theta < \Lambda_{\rm QCD}/E$, and we have removed the resulting imaginary bins from the distribution. The Landau pole signals that for $\theta \sim \Lambda_{\rm QCD}/E$ nonperturbative physics should become a dominant effect, as already observed in experimental data [60]. The Landau pole is not visible in the other subplots of figure 10, since the larger values of the jet energy result in a much smaller value of $\Lambda_{\rm QCD}/E$.

We can also observe in this figure that while the tail of the medium-enhancement to the left of the peak angle agrees for all the \hat{q} values presented in panel (a), it presents a strong sensitivity to \hat{q} in panel (c). This change in the scaling with \hat{q} is indicative of the emergence of colour coherence when moving from the DC region shown in subfigure (a) to the PC regime shown in subfigure (c).

We present in figure 11 the n = 1 EEC of quark initiated jets with different initial energies computed within the multiple scattering approach with a Yukawa parton-medium



Figure 10. The n = 1 EEC of an E = 50 GeV (top left), E = 100 GeV (top right), and E = 500 GeV (bottom) quark jet computed within the multiple scattering HO approach (see section 3.2.1) for a medium of length L = 5 fm and several values of \hat{q} : 1 GeV²/fm (orange), 2 GeV²/fm (blue), and 3 GeV²/fm (red) compared to the vacuum NLL result (black dashed). All curves are normalised by the integrated vacuum result $\Sigma_{\rm vac}^{(1)}$.

interaction model described in section 3.2.2 for several values of the medium parameters. As for the HO calculation shown in figure 10, we can see in panel (a) of this figure how the transition to hadronisation arises at an angular scale $\sim \Lambda_{\rm QCD}/E$. We observe again that the onset angle above which the in-medium EEC curves deviate from the vacuum result is only dependent of the energy of the jet E and the length of the medium L. This outcome is in agreement with our expectations, since only splittings with $t_{\rm f} = 2/(z(1-z)E\theta)$ smaller than the length of the medium are presumed to have a significant medium modification.

Finally, we show in figure 12 the n = 1 EEC of quark initiated jets with different initial energies computed within the single scattering (GLV) approach described in section 3.3 for several values of the medium parameters. We again observe the transition to the non-perturbative region of the EEC at an angular scale $\sim \Lambda_{\rm QCD}/E$.



Figure 11. Subfigure (a): the n = 1 EEC of an E = 50 GeV quark jet computed within the multiple scattering Yukawa approach (see section 3.2.2) for a medium of L = 3 fm, $n_0 = 1$ fm⁻¹ and several values of μ : 0.7 GeV (black), 1 GeV (orange), and 1.4 GeV (purple) compared to the NLL vacuum result. Subfigure (b): the n = 1 EEC of an E = 100 GeV quark jet computed within the multiple scattering Yukawa approach for a medium of L = 5 fm, $n_0 = 2$ fm⁻¹ and several values of μ : 0.7 GeV (black), 1 GeV (orange), and 1.4 GeV (purple) compared to the NLL result. Subfigure (c): the same as subfigure (b) for an E = 500 GeV jet. All curves are normalised by the integrated vacuum result $\Sigma_{\rm vac}^{(1)}$.



Figure 12. Subfigure (a): the n = 1 EEC of an E = 50 GeV quark jet computed within the single scattering (GLV) approach (see section 3.3) for a medium of L = 3 fm, $n_0 = 1$ fm⁻¹ and several values of μ : 0.7 GeV (black), 1 GeV (orange), and 1.4 GeV (purple) compared to the NLL vacuum result. Subfigure (b): the n = 1 EEC of an E = 100 GeV quark jet computed within the single scattering (GLV) approach for a medium of L = 5 fm, $n_0 = 2$ fm⁻¹ and several values of μ : 0.7 GeV (black), 1 GeV (purple) compared to the NLL vacuum result. Subfigure (b): the n = 1 EEC of an E = 100 GeV quark jet computed within the single scattering (GLV) approach for a medium of L = 5 fm, $n_0 = 2$ fm⁻¹ and several values of μ : 0.7 GeV (black), 1 GeV (orange), and 1.4 GeV (purple) compared to the NLL vacuum result. Subfigure (c): the same as the subfigure (b) for an E = 500 GeV quark jet. All curves are normalised by the integrated vacuum result $\Sigma_{\rm vac}^{(1)}$.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- PHOBOS collaboration, The PHOBOS perspective on discoveries at RHIC, Nucl. Phys. A 757 (2005) 28 [nucl-ex/0410022] [INSPIRE].
- B. Muller and J.L. Nagle, Results from the relativistic heavy ion collider, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 56 (2006) 93 [nucl-th/0602029] [INSPIRE].
- [3] B. Muller, J. Schukraft and B. Wyslouch, First Results from Pb+Pb collisions at the LHC, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 62 (2012) 361 [arXiv:1202.3233] [INSPIRE].
- [4] M. Connors, C. Nattrass, R. Reed and S. Salur, Jet measurements in heavy ion physics, Rev. Mod. Phys. 90 (2018) 025005 [arXiv:1705.01974] [INSPIRE].
- [5] W. Busza, K. Rajagopal and W. van der Schee, Heavy Ion Collisions: The Big Picture, and the Big Questions, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 68 (2018) 339 [arXiv:1802.04801] [INSPIRE].
- [6] V. Dexheimer et al., Future physics perspectives on the equation of state from heavy ion collisions to neutron stars, J. Phys. G 48 (2021) 073001 [arXiv:2010.08834] [INSPIRE].
- [7] L. Cunqueiro and A.M. Sickles, Studying the QGP with Jets at the LHC and RHIC, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 124 (2022) 103940 [arXiv:2110.14490] [INSPIRE].
- [8] L. Apolinário, Y.-J. Lee and M. Winn, Heavy quarks and jets as probes of the QGP, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 127 (2022) 103990 [arXiv:2203.16352] [INSPIRE].
- [9] M. Dasgupta, A. Fregoso, S. Marzani and G.P. Salam, Towards an understanding of jet substructure, JHEP 09 (2013) 029 [arXiv:1307.0007] [INSPIRE].
- [10] A.J. Larkoski, G.P. Salam and J. Thaler, Energy Correlation Functions for Jet Substructure, JHEP 06 (2013) 108 [arXiv:1305.0007] [INSPIRE].
- [11] A.J. Larkoski, I. Moult and B. Nachman, Jet Substructure at the Large Hadron Collider: A Review of Recent Advances in Theory and Machine Learning, Phys. Rept. 841 (2020) 1
 [arXiv:1709.04464] [INSPIRE].
- [12] R. Kogler et al., Jet Substructure at the Large Hadron Collider: Experimental Review, Rev. Mod. Phys. 91 (2019) 045003 [arXiv:1803.06991] [INSPIRE].
- S. Marzani, G. Soyez and M. Spannowsky, Looking inside jets: an introduction to jet substructure and boosted-object phenomenology, Springer (2019)
 [D0I:10.1007/978-3-030-15709-8] [INSPIRE].
- [14] C.A. Salgado and U.A. Wiedemann, Medium modification of jet shapes and jet multiplicities, Phys. Rev. Lett. 93 (2004) 042301 [hep-ph/0310079] [INSPIRE].
- [15] H.A. Andrews et al., Novel tools and observables for jet physics in heavy-ion collisions, J. Phys. G 47 (2020) 065102 [arXiv:1808.03689] [INSPIRE].
- [16] CMS collaboration, Modification of Jet Shapes in PbPb Collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 2.76 \text{ TeV}$, Phys. Lett. B **730** (2014) 243 [arXiv:1310.0878] [INSPIRE].
- [17] CMS collaboration, Jet properties in PbPb and pp collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 5.02 \text{ TeV}$, JHEP 05 (2018) 006 [arXiv:1803.00042] [INSPIRE].

- [18] Y.-T. Chien and I. Vitev, Towards the understanding of jet shapes and cross sections in heavy ion collisions using soft-collinear effective theory, JHEP 05 (2016) 023
 [arXiv:1509.07257] [INSPIRE].
- [19] Y.-T. Chien and I. Vitev, Probing the Hardest Branching within Jets in Heavy-Ion Collisions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 112301 [arXiv:1608.07283] [INSPIRE].
- [20] L. Apolinário, J.G. Milhano, M. Ploskon and X. Zhang, Novel subjet observables for jet quenching in heavy-ion collisions, Eur. Phys. J. C 78 (2018) 529 [arXiv:1710.07607]
 [INSPIRE].
- [21] P. Caucal, E. Iancu, A.H. Mueller and G. Soyez, Vacuum-like jet fragmentation in a dense QCD medium, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 (2018) 232001 [arXiv:1801.09703] [INSPIRE].
- [22] F. Ringer, B.-W. Xiao and F. Yuan, Can we observe jet P_T-broadening in heavy-ion collisions at the LHC?, Phys. Lett. B 808 (2020) 135634 [arXiv:1907.12541] [INSPIRE].
- [23] V. Vaidya, Effective Field Theory for jet substructure in heavy ion collisions, JHEP 11 (2021) 064 [arXiv:2010.00028] [INSPIRE].
- [24] P. Caucal, A. Soto-Ontoso and A. Takacs, Dynamically groomed jet radius in heavy-ion collisions, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 114046 [arXiv:2111.14768] [INSPIRE].
- [25] Y. Mehtar-Tani, D. Pablos and K. Tywoniuk, Cone-Size Dependence of Jet Suppression in Heavy-Ion Collisions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 127 (2021) 252301 [arXiv:2101.01742] [INSPIRE].
- [26] J.G. Milhano and K. Zapp, Improved background subtraction and a fresh look at jet sub-structure in JEWEL, Eur. Phys. J. C 82 (2022) 1010 [arXiv:2207.14814] [INSPIRE].
- [27] C. Andres et al., Resolving the Scales of the Quark-Gluon Plasma with Energy Correlators, Phys. Rev. Lett. 130 (2023) 262301 [arXiv:2209.11236] [INSPIRE].
- [28] Y. Mehtar-Tani, C.A. Salgado and K. Tywoniuk, Anti-angular ordering of gluon radiation in QCD media, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106 (2011) 122002 [arXiv:1009.2965] [INSPIRE].
- [29] Y. Mehtar-Tani, C.A. Salgado and K. Tywoniuk, Jets in QCD Media: From Color Coherence to Decoherence, Phys. Lett. B 707 (2012) 156 [arXiv:1102.4317] [INSPIRE].
- [30] J. Casalderrey-Solana and E. Iancu, Interference effects in medium-induced gluon radiation, JHEP 08 (2011) 015 [arXiv:1105.1760] [INSPIRE].
- [31] Y. Mehtar-Tani, C.A. Salgado and K. Tywoniuk, The Radiation pattern of a QCD antenna in a dense medium, JHEP 10 (2012) 197 [arXiv:1205.5739] [INSPIRE].
- [32] S. Cao and X.-N. Wang, Jet quenching and medium response in high-energy heavy-ion collisions: a review, Rept. Prog. Phys. 84 (2021) 024301 [arXiv:2002.04028] [INSPIRE].
- [33] CMS collaboration, Using Z Boson Events to Study Parton-Medium Interactions in Pb-Pb Collisions, Phys. Rev. Lett. **128** (2022) 122301 [arXiv:2103.04377] [INSPIRE].
- [34] C.L. Basham, L.S. Brown, S.D. Ellis and S.T. Love, Electron-Positron Annihilation Energy Pattern in Quantum Chromodynamics: Asymptotically Free Perturbation Theory, Phys. Rev. D 17 (1978) 2298 [INSPIRE].
- [35] C.L. Basham, L.S. Brown, S.D. Ellis and S.T. Love, Energy Correlations in Electron-Positron Annihilation: Testing QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 41 (1978) 1585 [INSPIRE].
- [36] C.L. Basham, L.S. Brown, S.D. Ellis and S.T. Love, Energy Correlations in electron-Positron Annihilation in Quantum Chromodynamics: Asymptotically Free Perturbation Theory, Phys. Rev. D 19 (1979) 2018 [INSPIRE].

- [37] C.L. Basham, L.S. Brown, S.D. Ellis and S.T. Love, Energy Correlations in Perturbative Quantum Chromodynamics: A Conjecture for All Orders, Phys. Lett. B 85 (1979) 297 [INSPIRE].
- [38] D.M. Hofman and J. Maldacena, Conformal collider physics: Energy and charge correlations, JHEP 05 (2008) 012 [arXiv:0803.1467] [INSPIRE].
- [39] F.R. Ore Jr. and G.F. Sterman, An operator approach to weighted cross-sections, Nucl. Phys. B 165 (1980) 93 [INSPIRE].
- [40] G.P. Korchemsky and G.F. Sterman, Power corrections to event shapes and factorization, Nucl. Phys. B 555 (1999) 335 [hep-ph/9902341] [INSPIRE].
- [41] A.V. Belitsky et al., From correlation functions to event shapes, Nucl. Phys. B 884 (2014) 305 [arXiv:1309.0769] [INSPIRE].
- [42] L.J. Dixon, I. Moult and H.X. Zhu, Collinear limit of the energy-energy correlator, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 014009 [arXiv:1905.01310] [INSPIRE].
- [43] K. Lee, B. Meçaj and I. Moult, Conformal Colliders Meet the LHC, arXiv:2205.03414 [INSPIRE].
- [44] J. Holguin, I. Moult, A. Pathak and M. Procura, New paradigm for precision top physics: Weighing the top with energy correlators, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 114002
 [arXiv:2201.08393] [INSPIRE].
- [45] E. Craft, K. Lee, B. Meçaj and I. Moult, Beautiful and Charming Energy Correlators, arXiv:2210.09311 [INSPIRE].
- [46] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2018 results. VI. Cosmological parameters, Astron. Astrophys.
 641 (2020) A6 [Erratum ibid. 652 (2021) C4] [arXiv:1807.06209] [INSPIRE].
- [47] N. Arkani-Hamed, D. Baumann, H. Lee and G.L. Pimentel, The Cosmological Bootstrap: Inflationary Correlators from Symmetries and Singularities, JHEP 04 (2020) 105 [arXiv:1811.00024] [INSPIRE].
- [48] F. Domínguez et al., Mapping collinear in-medium parton splittings, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 11 [arXiv:1907.03653] [INSPIRE].
- [49] J.H. Isaksen and K. Tywoniuk, Wilson line correlators beyond the large-N_c, JHEP 21 (2020) 125 [arXiv:2107.02542] [INSPIRE].
- [50] R. Baier et al., Radiative energy loss of high-energy quarks and gluons in a finite volume quark-gluon plasma, Nucl. Phys. B 483 (1997) 291 [hep-ph/9607355] [INSPIRE].
- [51] R. Baier et al., Radiative energy loss and p_⊥ broadening of high-energy partons in nuclei, Nucl. Phys. B 484 (1997) 265 [hep-ph/9608322] [INSPIRE].
- [52] B.G. Zakharov, Fully quantum treatment of the Landau-Pomeranchuk-Migdal effect in QED and QCD, JETP Lett. 63 (1996) 952 [hep-ph/9607440] [INSPIRE].
- [53] B.G. Zakharov, Radiative energy loss of high-energy quarks in finite size nuclear matter and quark-gluon plasma, JETP Lett. 65 (1997) 615 [hep-ph/9704255] [INSPIRE].
- [54] M. Gyulassy, P. Levai and I. Vitev, NonAbelian energy loss at finite opacity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 85 (2000) 5535 [nucl-th/0005032] [INSPIRE].
- [55] M. Gyulassy, P. Levai and I. Vitev, Reaction operator approach to nonAbelian energy loss, Nucl. Phys. B 594 (2001) 371 [nucl-th/0006010] [INSPIRE].

- [56] U.A. Wiedemann, Gluon radiation off hard quarks in a nuclear environment: Opacity expansion, Nucl. Phys. B 588 (2000) 303 [hep-ph/0005129] [INSPIRE].
- [57] G. Ovanesyan and I. Vitev, Medium-induced parton splitting kernels from Soft Collinear Effective Theory with Glauber gluons, Phys. Lett. B 706 (2012) 371 [arXiv:1109.5619] [INSPIRE].
- [58] M. Dasgupta and G.P. Salam, Resummation of nonglobal QCD observables, Phys. Lett. B 512 (2001) 323 [hep-ph/0104277] [INSPIRE].
- [59] Y.-T. Chien and M.D. Schwartz, Resummation of heavy jet mass and comparison to LEP data, JHEP 08 (2010) 058 [arXiv:1005.1644] [INSPIRE].
- [60] P.T. Komiske, I. Moult, J. Thaler and H.X. Zhu, Analyzing N-Point Energy Correlators inside Jets with CMS Open Data, Phys. Rev. Lett. 130 (2023) 051901 [arXiv:2201.07800] [INSPIRE].
- [61] L. Apolinário, J.G. Milhano, G.P. Salam and C.A. Salgado, Probing the time structure of the quark-gluon plasma with top quarks, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 (2018) 232301 [arXiv:1711.03105] [INSPIRE].
- [62] C. Andres et al., Jet quenching as a probe of the initial stages in heavy-ion collisions, Phys. Lett. B 803 (2020) 135318 [arXiv:1902.03231] [INSPIRE].
- [63] L. Apolinário, A. Cordeiro and K. Zapp, Time reclustering for jet quenching studies, Eur. Phys. J. C 81 (2021) 561 [arXiv:2012.02199] [INSPIRE].
- [64] C. Andres et al., Medium-induced radiation with vacuum propagation in the pre-hydrodynamics phase, JHEP 03 (2023) 189 [arXiv:2211.10161] [INSPIRE].
- [65] L. Apolinário, R. Kunnawalkam Elayavalli and N. Olavo, Transitioning from perturbative to non-perturbative splittings within QCD jets, arXiv:2212.11846 [INSPIRE].
- [66] X. Liu and H.X. Zhu, Nucleon Energy Correlators, Phys. Rev. Lett. 130 (2023) 091901 [arXiv:2209.02080] [INSPIRE].
- [67] H.-Y. Liu et al., Nucleon Energy Correlators for the Color Glass Condensate, Phys. Rev. Lett. 130 (2023) 181901 [arXiv:2301.01788] [INSPIRE].
- [68] H. Cao, X. Liu and H.X. Zhu, Toward precision measurements of nucleon energy correlators in lepton-nucleon collisions, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 114008 [arXiv:2303.01530] [INSPIRE].
- [69] L.J. Dixon et al., Analytical Computation of Energy-Energy Correlation at Next-to-Leading Order in QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 (2018) 102001 [arXiv:1801.03219] [INSPIRE].
- [70] H. Chen, I. Moult, X.Y. Zhang and H.X. Zhu, Rethinking jets with energy correlators: Tracks, resummation, and analytic continuation, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 054012
 [arXiv:2004.11381] [INSPIRE].
- [71] Y. Li et al., Extending Precision Perturbative QCD with Track Functions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 182001 [arXiv:2108.01674] [INSPIRE].
- [72] M. Jaarsma et al., Renormalization group flows for track function moments, JHEP 06 (2022)
 139 [arXiv:2201.05166] [INSPIRE].
- [73] H.-M. Chang, M. Procura, J. Thaler and W.J. Waalewijn, *Calculating Track-Based Observables for the LHC, Phys. Rev. Lett.* **111** (2013) 102002 [arXiv:1303.6637] [INSPIRE].
- [74] H.-M. Chang, M. Procura, J. Thaler and W.J. Waalewijn, Calculating Track Thrust with Track Functions, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 034030 [arXiv:1306.6630] [INSPIRE].

- [75] J. Mulligan and M. Ploskon, Identifying groomed jet splittings in heavy-ion collisions, Phys. Rev. C 102 (2020) 044913 [arXiv:2006.01812] [INSPIRE].
- [76] A.J. Larkoski, S. Marzani and J. Thaler, Sudakov Safety in Perturbative QCD, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 111501 [arXiv:1502.01719] [INSPIRE].
- [77] A. Larkoski et al., Exposing the QCD Splitting Function with CMS Open Data, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 132003 [arXiv:1704.05066] [INSPIRE].
- [78] A. Tripathee et al., Jet Substructure Studies with CMS Open Data, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 074003 [arXiv:1704.05842] [INSPIRE].
- [79] L. Cunqueiro, D. Napoletano and A. Soto-Ontoso, Dead-cone searches in heavy-ion collisions using the jet tree, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 094008 [arXiv:2211.11789] [INSPIRE].
- [80] H. Chen, I. Moult, J. Sandor and H.X. Zhu, *Celestial blocks and transverse spin in the three-point energy correlator*, *JHEP* 09 (2022) 199 [arXiv:2202.04085] [INSPIRE].
- [81] H. Chen, I. Moult, J. Thaler and H.X. Zhu, Non-Gaussianities in collider energy flux, JHEP 07 (2022) 146 [arXiv:2205.02857] [INSPIRE].
- [82] J.C. Collins, D.E. Soper and G.F. Sterman, Factorization for Short Distance Hadron-Hadron Scattering, Nucl. Phys. B 261 (1985) 104 [INSPIRE].
- [83] J.C. Collins, D.E. Soper and G.F. Sterman, Soft Gluons and Factorization, Nucl. Phys. B 308 (1988) 833 [INSPIRE].
- [84] H. Chen et al., Three point energy correlators in the collinear limit: symmetries, dualities and analytic results, JHEP 08 (2020) 028 [arXiv:1912.11050] [INSPIRE].
- [85] H. Chen, I. Moult and H.X. Zhu, Spinning gluons from the QCD light-ray OPE, JHEP 08 (2022) 233 [arXiv:2104.00009] [INSPIRE].
- [86] C. Andres, L. Apolinário and F. Dominguez, Medium-induced gluon radiation with full resummation of multiple scatterings for realistic parton-medium interactions, JHEP 07 (2020) 114 [arXiv:2002.01517] [INSPIRE].
- [87] J. Barata and Y. Mehtar-Tani, Energy loss effects in EECs at LO, in the proceedings of the 11th International Conference on Hard and Electromagnetic Probes of High-Energy Nuclear Collisions: Hard Probes 2023, Aschaffenburg Germany, March 26–31 (2023) [arXiv:2307.08943] [INSPIRE].
- [88] A.V. Sadofyev, M.D. Sievert and I. Vitev, Ab initio coupling of jets to collective flow in the opacity expansion approach, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 094044 [arXiv:2104.09513] [INSPIRE].
- [89] J. Barata, A.V. Sadofyev and C.A. Salgado, Jet broadening in dense inhomogeneous matter, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 114010 [arXiv:2202.08847] [INSPIRE].
- [90] C. Andres, F. Dominguez, A.V. Sadofyev and C.A. Salgado, Jet broadening in flowing matter: Resummation, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 074023 [arXiv:2207.07141] [INSPIRE].
- [91] J. Barata, A.V. Sadofyev and X.-N. Wang, Quantum partonic transport in QCD matter, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) L051503 [arXiv:2210.06519] [INSPIRE].
- [92] J. Barata, X. Mayo López, A.V. Sadofyev and C.A. Salgado, Medium induced gluon spectrum in dense inhomogeneous matter, Phys. Rev. D 108 (2023) 034018 [arXiv:2304.03712]
 [INSPIRE].

- [93] L. Apolinário, N. Armesto, J.G. Milhano and C.A. Salgado, Medium-induced gluon radiation and colour decoherence beyond the soft approximation, JHEP 02 (2015) 119 [arXiv:1407.0599] [INSPIRE].
- [94] J.-P. Blaizot, F. Dominguez, E. Iancu and Y. Mehtar-Tani, Medium-induced gluon branching, JHEP 01 (2013) 143 [arXiv:1209.4585] [INSPIRE].
- [95] M.D. Sievert and I. Vitev, Quark branching in QCD matter to any order in opacity beyond the soft gluon emission limit, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 094010 [arXiv:1807.03799] [INSPIRE].
- [96] Y. Mehtar-Tani, Relating the description of gluon production in pA collisions and parton energy loss in AA collisions, Phys. Rev. C 75 (2007) 034908 [hep-ph/0606236] [INSPIRE].
- [97] S. Jeon and G.D. Moore, Energy loss of leading partons in a thermal QCD medium, Phys. Rev. C 71 (2005) 034901 [hep-ph/0309332] [INSPIRE].
- [98] S. Caron-Huot and C. Gale, Finite-size effects on the radiative energy loss of a fast parton in hot and dense strongly interacting matter, Phys. Rev. C 82 (2010) 064902
 [arXiv:1006.2379] [INSPIRE].
- [99] S. Schlichting and I. Soudi, Splitting rates in QCD plasmas from a nonperturbative determination of the momentum broadening kernel $C(q_{\perp})$, Phys. Rev. D **105** (2022) 076002 [arXiv:2111.13731] [INSPIRE].
- [100] C. Andres, F. Dominguez and M. Gonzalez Martinez, From soft to hard radiation: the role of multiple scatterings in medium-induced gluon emissions, JHEP 03 (2021) 102 [arXiv:2011.06522] [INSPIRE].
- [101] M. Gyulassy and X.-N. Wang, Multiple collisions and induced gluon Bremsstrahlung in QCD, Nucl. Phys. B 420 (1994) 583 [nucl-th/9306003] [INSPIRE].
- [102] S. Wicks, Up to and beyond ninth order in opacity: Radiative energy loss with GLV, arXiv:0804.4704 [INSPIRE].
- [103] M.D. Sievert, I. Vitev and B. Yoon, A complete set of in-medium splitting functions to any order in opacity, Phys. Lett. B 795 (2019) 502 [arXiv:1903.06170] [INSPIRE].
- [104] C. Andres et al., Seeing Beauty in the Quark-Gluon Plasma with Energy Correlators, arXiv:2307.15110 [INSPIRE].
- [105] C.A. Salgado and U.A. Wiedemann, Calculating quenching weights, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 014008 [hep-ph/0302184] [INSPIRE].
- [106] J.-P. Blaizot, F. Dominguez, E. Iancu and Y. Mehtar-Tani, Probabilistic picture for medium-induced jet evolution, JHEP 06 (2014) 075 [arXiv:1311.5823] [INSPIRE].
- [107] Y. Mehtar-Tani and K. Tywoniuk, Radiative energy loss of neighboring subjets, Nucl. Phys. A 979 (2018) 165 [arXiv:1706.06047] [INSPIRE].
- [108] P. Arnold and S. Iqbal, The LPM effect in sequential bremsstrahlung, JHEP 04 (2015) 070
 [Erratum ibid. 09 (2016) 072] [arXiv:1501.04964] [INSPIRE].
- [109] P. Arnold, T. Gorda and S. Iqbal, The LPM effect in sequential bremsstrahlung: nearly complete results for QCD, JHEP 11 (2020) 053 [Erratum ibid. 05 (2022) 114]
 [arXiv:2007.15018] [INSPIRE].
- [110] A.V. Belitsky et al., Event shapes in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super-Yang-Mills theory, Nucl. Phys. B 884 (2014) 206 [arXiv:1309.1424] [INSPIRE].